Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

6-7-2023 1:00 PM

The Prevalence of Ontario Undergraduate University Students Meeting the 24-Hour Movement Guidelines and the Role of Perceived Social Support

Nia Contini, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Irwin, Jennifer D., *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Health and Rehabilitation Sciences © Nia Contini 2023

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Kinesiology Commons

Recommended Citation

Contini, Nia, "The Prevalence of Ontario Undergraduate University Students Meeting the 24-Hour Movement Guidelines and the Role of Perceived Social Support" (2023). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 9312. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/9312

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

Abstract

The extensive physical and mental health implications of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep are irrefutable. The COVID-19 pandemic has had drastic consequences on university students and their already poor movement behaviours. Recommendations for a healthful distribution of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep were presented in the Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines for Adults. The current research sought to report the prevalence of Ontario undergraduate university students meeting the Guidelines approximately two and a half years into the pandemic and assess the association between meeting the Guidelines and perceived social support. A total of 508 undergraduate students registered at 19 universities across Ontario completed the online survey. Only one participant (0.2%) met all recommendations set out in the Guidelines. Biserial correlation revealed a small significant correlation between meeting the sedentary time component of the Guidelines and social support. Meaningful intervention is needed to improve the movement behaviours of university students.

Keywords: physical activity, sedentary behaviour, sleep, university students, movement behaviours, social support

Summary for Lay Audience

Participating in enough physical activity and sleep while also limiting sedentary behaviour has been associated with countless health benefits. Unfortunately, university students have struggled to participate in recommended amounts of these behaviours. The pandemic has negatively impacted university students' already poor movement behaviours. In 2020, the Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology released new guidelines for physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep, entitled "The Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines for Adults." In the current study, the research team aimed to assess how many Ontario undergraduate university students were meeting the Guidelines approximately two and a half years into the pandemic. This study also looked at whether perceived social support (i.e., the perception of help received from interpersonal relationships) was associated with university students meeting the Guidelines. A total of 508 undergraduate students registered at 19 universities across Ontario completed the online survey. Only one participant (0.2%) met all recommendations set out in the Guidelines. Students most often met individual recommendations for moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity, when walking was included. Students most often did not meet recommendations for recreational screen time. Biserial correlation revealed a small significant correlation between meeting the sedentary time component and social support. The stark lack of students meeting the Guidelines is concerning. Meaningful intervention is needed to improve the movement behaviours of university students. Social support may be beneficial to help students improve their movement behaviours, specifically by helping to reduce their sedentary time.

iii

Co-Authorship Statement

This thesis is comprised of my original work but could not have been completed without the guidance of my supervisor and advisory committee members. I would like to extend my gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Jennifer Irwin, who supported my vision in the creation of our study, provided consultation throughout recruitment, data collection, and data analysis, and provided detailed feedback on this thesis. I would also like to thank my advisory committee members, Drs. Trish Tucker and Shauna Burke, for their steadfast support throughout the duration of this process. Thank you all for your guidance and support – I am so very grateful.

Acknowledgements

This Master's degree would not have been possible without the immense amount of support I received. First and foremost, I'd like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Jennifer Irwin. Jen, thank you for giving me this opportunity and supporting me in my vision for this project. Over the last two years, your empathy, kindness, and encouragement in both my academic and personal life was instrumental to my success. I appreciate your dedication to ensuring my work is always the best it can be and challenging my thinking and understanding to help me learn and grow. Your kind and positive attitude is infectious, and I am finishing this degree inspired to be a better person because of you.

To the other members of the Irwin Lab, past and present, I am so grateful to have had the best lab mates, support system, and friends. Katie, thank you for answering all my silly questions, keeping me company on our no work days, and being the best running buddy. Varsha, thank you for all the days and nights spent working in the office accompanied by oh so many Spoke bagels. Ben, thank you for every wine and game night, and for being the best taboo partner. Taylor, thank you for inviting me into the journey of your thesis, for teaching me, and for being an inspiration in tough times. Julia, thank you for being my rock in every TA journey and for all your stats expertise. And, Mani, thank you for always being the most supportive and uplifting lab mate and friend.

To my friends in London and beyond. Ali, thank you for listening whenever I needed a shoulder to cry on, and for always knowing when I needed ice cream and treats. Adam, thank you for countless hours spent climbing at Junction followed by the best caramel brownies. Leah and Arielle, thank you for welcoming me into your home when I needed it the most and feeding me so many snacks. Mel, thank you for spending hours on FaceTime and being my person from

v

hundreds of kilometers away. And, Kendall, thank you for being willing to listen to every rant and for always being up for the next adventure. Too all my other friends, your calls, company, and words of encouragement have helped and supported me more than you will ever know – thank you.

To my family: Mama, Papa, Lewis, and Nain. Thank you for always answering the phone and cheering me on when things got tough. I could not have gotten through this without you. I'd like to end these acknowledgments by remembering my grandfather, Richard Holyer, who received his BSc ('60) and PhD ('64) from Western. Grandad, I feel so honoured to be able to carry on your Western legacy and I hope you are watching over me with pride.

| Abstract | ii |
|--|-----|
| Summary for Lay Audience | iii |
| Co-Authorship Statement | iv |
| Acknowledgements | v |
| Table of Contents | vii |
| List of Tables | x |
| List of Appendices | xi |
| List of Abbreviations | xii |
| Chapter 1: Introduction | 1 |
| Chapter 2: Literature Review | 4 |
| Movement Behaviours | 4 |
| Physical Activity | 5 |
| Sedentary Behaviour | 6 |
| Sleep | 7 |
| The Need for Cohesive Recommendations | 7 |
| The Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines | |
| The Importance of Focusing on University Students and their Health Behaviour | s9 |
| University Students' Movement Behaviours | 10 |
| University Students and Physical Activity Pre-Pandemic | 12 |
| University Students and Sedentary Behaviour Pre-Pandemic | 13 |
| University Students and Sleep Pre-Pandemic | 14 |
| The Impact of the Pandemic on University Students and their Movemen | t |
| Behaviours | 15 |
| Correlates of Meeting the Guidelines | 16 |
| Physical Activity | |
| Sedentary Behaviour | |
| Sleep | |
| Interconnected Correlates of Movement Behaviours | |
| Social Support | |
| Physical Activity and Social Support | |

Table of Contents

| Sedentary Behaviour and Social Support | 24 |
|--|-----|
| Sleep and Social Support | 24 |
| Movement Behaviours and Social Support – Theoretical Support | 24 |
| University Students' Social Support During the Pandemic | 25 |
| Importance of Studying University Students' Movement Behaviours, and their | |
| Association with Social Support During the Pandemic | 27 |
| Study Purpose | 28 |
| Chapter 3: Methods | 29 |
| Study Design and Sample Size | 29 |
| Eligibility Criteria and Associated Rationale | 29 |
| Recruitment | 30 |
| Data Collection | 31 |
| Data Collection Tools | 31 |
| Data Analysis | 35 |
| Physical Activity Recommendation | 36 |
| Sedentary Behaviour Recommendation | 38 |
| Sleep Recommendation | 39 |
| The Guidelines | 40 |
| Social Support | 40 |
| Chapter 4: Results | 42 |
| Demographics | 42 |
| Meeting the Guidelines | 44 |
| Associations with Social Support | 48 |
| Chapter 5: Discussion | 50 |
| Limitations | 68 |
| Conclusions | 69 |
| References | 70 |
| Appendices | 107 |
| Appendix A – Ethics Approval Notice | 107 |
| Appendix B – Recruitment Graphic | 109 |
| Appendix C – Mass Email Recruitment Script | 110 |

| | Appendix D – Invitation Email to Course Instructors and Student Groups | |
|------|---|--|
| | Appendix E – Letter of Information | |
| | Appendix F – International Physical Activity Questionnaire – Short Form | |
| | Appendix G – Muscle-Strengthening Exercise Questionnaire Short Form | |
| | Appendix H – Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support | |
| Curr | riculum Vitae | |

List of Tables

| Table 1. Demographic characteristics of participants ($n = 508$) | 42 |
|--|----|
| Table 2. Movement behaviours of participants, and the number and percent of participants | |
| meeting the components, recommendations, and Guidelines $(n = 508)$ | 46 |
| Table 3. Number and which of the recommendations are met by participants ($n = 422$) | |
| | 47 |
| Table 4. Number of participants meeting the components of the Guidelines $(n = 422)$ | 47 |
| Table 5. Biserial correlation coefficient (rb) of social support and meeting the components and | |
| recommendations of the Guidelines | 48 |
| Table 6. Correlation coefficient (Kendall's τb) of social support and meeting the components | |
| and recommendations of the Guidelines | 49 |

List of Appendices

| Appendix A – Ethics Approval Notice 1 | 107 |
|---|-----|
| Appendix B – Recruitment Graphic 1 | 109 |
| Appendix C – Mass Email Recruitment Script 1 | 110 |
| Appendix D – Invitation Email to Course Instructors and Student Groups 1 | 111 |
| Appendix E – Letter of Information 1 | 112 |
| Appendix F – International Physical Activity Questionnaire – Short Form 1 | 115 |
| Appendix G – Muscle-Strengthening Exercise Questionnaire Short Form 1 | 117 |
| Appendix H – Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support 1 | 118 |

List of Abbreviations

IPAQ-SF: International Physical Activity Questionnaire – Short Form
MSEQ-SF: Muscle-Strengthening Exercise Questionnaire Short Form
MSPSS: Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support
MVPA: Moderate-to-vigorous physical activity

METs: Metabolic equivalent tasks

Chapter 1: Introduction

It is irrefutable that physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep (i.e., movement behaviours) have serious implications for overall health and well-being (e.g., Biswas et al., 2015; Rollo et al., 2020; Warburton et al., 2006; Yin et al., 2017). Despite the well-established health consequences, researchers have reported that many Canadian adults aged 18 to 79 years do not meet the recommendations for these movement behaviours (ParticipACTION, 2021), which are summarized within the relatively new Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines for Adults (Ross et al., 2020), hereafter referred to as *the Guidelines*. Monitoring compliance to the Guidelines provides researchers with a fulsome understanding of movement behaviours, as time spent in one behaviour has a resultant increase in time spent in another behaviour. Therefore, considering the time spent in each movement behaviour within the context of the other movement behaviours is more meaningful than analyzing each behaviour in isolation, and helps researchers to identify how the behavioural distribution might be best targeted by intervention.

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, hereafter referred to as *the pandemic*, university students were identified as a subgroup of adults that regularly did not meet recommendations for the movement behaviours (Ross et al., 2020; Weatherson et al., 2021). Worryingly, researchers around the world have suggested that the pandemic has exacerbated university students' already poor movement behaviours (Bertrand et al., 2021; Suherman et al., 2021; Wright et al., 2020). However, most of this research was conducted during the early months of the pandemic and reflected periods of time when stay-at-home orders and other stringent public health protections were in place. To inform future interventions and improve university students' compliance to the Guidelines since the onset of the pandemic, it is important to first have an updated understanding of the magnitude of the problem (i.e., the prevalence of students meeting and not meeting the

Guidelines). Although the pandemic has impacted all nations around the world, in Canada, public health protections were implemented on a provincial level (Canadian Institute for Health Information, 2022). Therefore, some of the associated movement behaviour challenges are likely to have been experienced differently depending on geographic location, rendering it suitable to assess compliance to the guidelines in each province independently.

In addition to understanding the prevalence of students meeting the Guidelines, it is also important that researchers understand the correlates of movement behaviours. Previously, researchers have explored the multidimensional correlates that influence students' physical activity (Deliens et al., 2015), sedentary behaviour (Castro et al., 2018; Deliens et al., 2015), and sleep (F. Wang & Bíró, 2021), independently. However, as these behaviours are highly related (Chastin et al., 2015; Pedišić, 2014), their correlates may also be connected. One correlate that is known to affect all three movement behaviours is social support, which is defined as the "aid and assistance exchanged through social relationships and interpersonal transactions" (Heaney & Israel, 2008, p. 191). Social support may act to influence a person's ability to make and sustain healthy lifestyle behaviour changes, such as increasing physical activity and sleep and decreasing sedentary behaviour (Williams et al., 2013).

Not surprisingly, in addition to being potentially associated with problematic changes in movement behaviours, the pandemic has also influenced many correlates of those movement behaviours, including social support (Guerrero et al., 2020). For example, university students have experienced reduced opportunities to form on-campus social support networks (Patterson et al., 2021). Consequently, a reduction in social support may have had negative influences on students' physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep (Castro et al., 2018; Krause & Rainville, 2020; Luchene & Delens, 2021). Understanding university students' movement

behaviours, the influence of social support, and the current state of students' social support is vital information to support a generation of students whose movement behaviour patterns may be putting them at an increased risk of physical and mental health concerns.

Rooted in the above content, the two-fold purpose of the current study was to (1) assess the prevalence of full-time Ontario undergraduate university students meeting the Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines approximately two and a half years into the pandemic and (2) assess the association between meeting the Guidelines and perceived social support. It was hypothesized that fewer than 5% of Ontario university undergraduate students would be meeting the Guidelines. This was hypothesized because just prior to the pandemic starting, Weatherson et al. (2021) reported that 9.9% of students were meeting the Guidelines, and since the onset of the pandemic, researchers have reported problematic changes to university students' physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep (Benham, 2021; Huber et al., 2020; Wright et al., 2020). Because social support has been associated with improvement to all three movement behaviours included in the Guidelines, it was hypothesized that perceived social support would be associated with meeting the Guidelines. Specifically, it was expected that a higher level of perceived social support would be associated with an increased likelihood of meeting the Guidelines. To further underscore the rationale for this study's purpose, what follows is a review of the relevant literature to highlight what is currently known about university students' movement behaviours before and during the pandemic, and the association of these behaviours with social support. Next, a description of the methods used is presented followed by the results, a discussion of the results as they apply to the study purpose, and the study conclusion.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

To provide the necessary background to contextualize the purpose of the current study, the following review of the literature begins with an overview of the three movement behaviours: physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep. For each behaviour, the definition and consequences of not meeting recommended levels is presented. Next, the Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines (i.e., the Guidelines), and their rationale, are introduced. Subsequently, the importance of studying university students and their movement behaviours is outlined. Previous research related to students' compliance to the Guidelines and students' participation in each individual component of the Guidelines is then described. Next, the influence of the pandemic on students, and their movement behaviours, is addressed. Thereafter, the correlates of meeting the Guidelines and the individual movement behaviours are discussed, noting particularly the interconnectedness of these correlates. Specifically, social support, and its potential role in compliance to the Guidelines, is highlighted. The theoretical frameworks that underscore the importance of social support are also briefly described. Then, the influence of the pandemic on university students' social support is discussed. Finally, the resultant purpose of this study, inclusive of the hypotheses, is presented.

Movement Behaviours

Over the last decade, researchers have been focussing attention on the entire movement continuum that progresses from sleep to sedentary behaviour to physical activity (Tremblay et al., 2010). As behaviours progress along the movement continuum, greater energy expenditure, measured in metabolic equivalent tasks (METs), is required. Importantly, the three movement behaviours comprise the fixed 24-hour day; and therefore, the time spent in each behaviour is not independent of the time spent in the other movement behaviours (Chastin et al., 2015; Pedišić, 2014). That is, if the total time spent in one behaviour is changed, there is a resultant change in the time spent in one or more of the remaining two behaviours. Each behaviour on the continuum will be discussed in further detail, below.

Physical Activity

Physical activity, as defined by Caspersen et al. (1985), refers to "any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that results in energy expenditure" (p. 126). The intensity, and subsequent required energy expenditure, of physical activity can vary from light to vigorous and is defined by the METs needed to perform the activity. Light physical activity refers to movements requiring between 1.6 and 3 METs and includes incidental movements such as standing or light housework (Tremblay et al., 2010). Moderate physical activity refers to movements requiring between 3 and 5.9 METS and may include activities such as brisk walking or dancing (Ainsworth et al., 2012). Finally, vigorous activities are those requiring 6 METS or more, for example jogging or fast cycling (Ainsworth et al., 2012).

The health benefits of all intensities of physical activity are well-known and can be achieved across the lifespan (Warburton et al., 2006). Engagement in physical activity of any intensity has been associated with various physical health benefits such as a decreased risk of numerous chronic diseases including cardiovascular disease, all-cause mortality, all-cancer mortality, type 2 diabetes, hypertension, breast cancer, colon cancer, gestational diabetes, gallstone disease, ischemic heart disease, and ischemic stroke (Warburton & Bredin, 2017). Physical activity of any intensity has also been associated with vast improvements in energy levels, mood, resilience, mental health, and well-being (Fox, 1999; Hegberg & Tone, 2015).

Sedentary Behaviour

Sedentary behaviour is commonly defined as "any waking behavior characterized by an energy expenditure ≤ 1.5 metabolic equivalents (METs), while in a sitting, reclining or lying posture" (Sedentary Behaviour Research Network, 2012, p. 540). Unfortunately, many physical and psychological health risks have been associated with increased sedentary behaviour (Park et al., 2020). Specifically, a sedentary lifestyle has been associated with increased all-cause mortality, cardiovascular disease mortality, cancer risk, and risks of metabolic and musculoskeletal disorders, depression, and cognitive impairment (Park et al., 2020). Sedentary behaviour has often coincided with recreational screen use (Saunders et al., 2020), which is defined as "all discretionary (e.g., nonemployment or school required) and leisure-time screen time done while sedentary and typically includes television viewing, video-games use and computer use" (Tremblay et al., 2016, p. S324). Recreational screen time has been associated with negative health consequences including reduced mental health (Thomée et al., 2011), sleep impairments (Sampasa-Kanyinga et al., 2018), and musculoskeletal symptoms (S. Lee et al., 2015). Importantly, sedentary behaviour must be distinguished from a lack of physical activity, as sedentary behaviour has unique physiological responses, measurement techniques, and intervention strategies (Tremblay et al., 2010). Furthermore, the two behaviours are not mutually exclusive as those who achieve high levels of physical activity may still participate in high levels of sedentary behaviour, which is associated with independent risks (Tremblay et al., 2010). The physiological adaptations and responses to sedentary behaviour are not merely the opposite of physical activity (Tremblay et al., 2010).

Sleep

Sleep is defined as "a naturally recurring state of body and mind characterized by altered consciousness, relatively inhibited sensory activity, inhibition of nearly all voluntary muscles and reduced interactions with surroundings" (Chaput et al., 2017, p. 8). Sleep duration, timing, and consistency have been found to play an important role in a variety of health outcomes (Chaput, Dutil, Featherstone, Ross, Giangregorio, Saunders, Janssen, Poitras, Kho, Ross-White, & Carrier, 2020; Chaput, Dutil, Featherstone, Ross, Giangregorio, Saunders, Janssen, Poitras, Kho, Ross-White, Zankar, et al., 2020). An excessive or insufficient sleep duration has been associated with increased risk of cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality (Yin et al., 2017), coronary heart disease (D. Wang et al., 2016), type 2 diabetes (Shan et al., 2015), cognitive disorders (L. Wu et al., 2018), falls (L. Wu & Sun, 2017), and reduced cognitive functioning (Lo et al., 2016).

The Need for Cohesive Recommendations

As the three movement behaviours are interrelated, an increase in time spent in one behaviour over a given day reduces time spent in one or more of the other behaviours. There is considerable evidence that variable health outcomes depend on the movement behaviour that is displaced (Chastin et al., 2015; Janssen et al., 2020; McGregor et al., 2018; Rollo et al., 2020). Janssen and colleagues (2020) found that daily movement behaviour composition was related to all-cause mortality, adiposity, and cardiometabolic biomarkers. The most favourable health outcomes were attained by reallocating time from other movement behaviours (e.g., light physical activity or sedentary behaviour) into moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA; Janssen et al., 2020), which is any physical activity performed at greater than 3 METS (Ainsworth et al., 2012). Additionally, reallocating time from sedentary behaviour into other movement behaviours (e.g., light physical activity or MVPA) was associated with reduced allcause mortality (Janssen et al., 2020). Buman and colleagues (2014) found that reallocating sedentary behaviour to light physical activity was also associated with improved health outcomes, such as lower triglyceride and insulin levels. It is therefore more meaningful to consider the 24-hour composition of behaviours, and how these movement behaviours interact, rather than analyzing behaviours in isolation. This knowledge highlighted the need for a cohesive set of population health recommendations considering movement behaviours across the 24-hour day.

The Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines

In 2016, Canada became the first country to release a set of guidelines providing recommendations for all movement behaviours along the movement continuum (Tremblay et al., 2016). Since then, similar guidelines have been released internationally including in Australia (Okely et al., 2022), South Africa (Draper et al., 2020), and the Asia-Pacific region (Loo et al., 2021). The first set of Guidelines provided recommendations for children and youth aged 5 to 17 years (Tremblay et al., 2016). Since 2016, the Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology and partners have released Guidelines for across the lifespan including the earlier years (Tremblay et al., 2027), adults (Ross et al., 2020), and older adults (Ross et al., 2020). The Guidelines are a tool for policy makers, health professionals, and researchers to make evidence-based recommendations and monitor population behaviour (Ross et al., 2020).

According to the recommendations laid out in the Guidelines, adults aged 18 to 64 years should accumulate at least 150 minutes per week of MVPA in addition to performing muscle strengthening activities using major muscle groups at least twice a week (Ross et al., 2020). Adults should also perform several hours of light physical activity every day (e.g., standing). Sedentary behaviour should be limited to 8 hours or less per day, with frequent breaks, and include no more than 3 hours of recreational screen time per day. Finally, it is recommended that adults get 7 to 9 hours of good-quality sleep on a regular basis, with consistent bed and wake-up times. Good-quality sleep is not specifically defined within the Guidelines, but has been conceptualized to include considerations of sleep latency, number of awake episodes greater than 5 minutes in length, total time awake after sleep onset, and sleep efficiency (Ohayon et al., 2017). To attain optimal health benefits, adults should replace sedentary behaviour with physical activity of any intensity, and replace light physical activity with MVPA, while preserving adequate sleep (Ross et al., 2020). For the purpose of the current study, the targets for the overarching behaviours (i.e., physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep) will be known as *recommendations*, while the targets for the behaviours encompassed in these recommendations (i.e., MVPA, light physical activity, muscle strengthening activity, sedentary time, recreational screen time, break frequency, and sleep) will be referred to as *components*.

The Importance of Focusing on University Students and their Health Behaviours

The years spent in university are known as a period of significant change for many young adults as they transition from adolescence to adulthood while navigating higher education. This time period often involves living away from home for the first time, gaining newfound freedom, and making new friends (Arnett, 2000; Compas et al., 1986). Simultaneously, students must adapt to new expectations and norms to learn in a university environment (Briggs et al., 2012; Gall et al., 2000). Unfortunately, this complex period of change is often accompanied by unhealthy behaviour changes, such as unhealthy eating patterns, excessive alcohol consumption, insufficient physical activity, and risky sexual behaviour (Dodd et al., 2010; Holt & Powell, 2017; Kwan et al., 2012). Concerningly, given the unhealthy behaviour changes, the years spent

in university and, for most, the corresponding transition into adulthood may be a time when many students establish their lifelong health behaviour patterns (Nelson et al., 2008; Von Ah et al., 2004). This behavioural tracking over time emphasizes the importance of studying and improving university students' health behaviours. As students transition into roles as policy makers, managers, and healthcare professionals, their individual experiences and beliefs about health and healthy lifestyles, as shaped through their university years, will play an important role in determining future public health decisions (Leslie et al., 1999; Sparling et al., 2000).

Universities have an especially important role to play in supporting the health of their students, which was emphasized by the Okanagan Charter (International Conference on Health Promoting Universities and Colleges, 2015). The Okanagan Charter called for higher education institutions to embed health into everyday practices, business decisions, and academic mandates, as well as to be leaders in health promotion action and collaboration (International Conference on Health Promoting Universities and Colleges, 2015). Considering over 450,000 undergraduate students are enrolled at universities in Ontario (Ontario Universities, 2022), these provincial universities have the opportunity to engage large numbers of students in behaviour change interventions. Furthermore, as the number of students participating in higher education continues to grow (Statistics Canada, 2021), so too does the importance of addressing their poor health behaviours. In particular, a collection of university students' health behaviours that have been the focus of a substantial amount of research prior to the pandemic is that of their movement behaviours.

University Students' Movement Behaviours

Prior to the pandemic, university students were identified as a subset of the adult population in Canada who participated in insufficient physical activity and sleep, as well as participating in excessive sedentary behaviour (Ross et al., 2020). Physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep have predominantly been studied independently (e.g., Becker et al., 2018; Castro et al., 2020; Thomas et al., 2019), though, as previously described, it is more meaningful to consider the distribution of these behaviours. In Canada, only one known study has specifically examined all movement behaviours, which was achieved through an evaluation of university students' compliance to the Guidelines (Weatherson et al., 2021). Weatherson and colleagues (2021) used data collected in 2019 and early 2020 (i.e., pre-pandemic) and found that, from a sample of 24,760 students from 20 post-secondary institutions across Canada, only 9.9% of students were meeting the recommendations for physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep, as determined via four measured components of the Guidelines: MVPA, sleep, sedentary time, and recreational screen time. Of the four components, meeting the MVPA component was the most prevalent (61.1%), followed by sleep (59.7%), sedentary time (56.3%) and recreational screen time (36.2%; Weatherson et al., 2021). The poor compliance to the Guidelines reported prior to the pandemic is troubling and suggests additional research is needed among this population. Concerningly, researchers have suggested the pandemic has had a negative impact on university students and their already poor movement behaviours (Benham, 2021; Huber et al., 2020; Wright et al., 2020; Zheng et al., 2020). Given that limited research is available that examines university students' movement behaviours concurrently, what follows is a summary of what is known about each behaviour individually before the pandemic. Next, an overview of how the pandemic has impacted university students in particular will be presented, which is intended to help contextualize the subsequent review of university students' movement behaviours during the pandemic.

University Students and Physical Activity Pre-Pandemic

Regular engagement in physical activity has been documented as gleaning substantial benefits for the health and wellbeing of young adults (e.g., San Román-Mata et al., 2020; Sothern et al., 1999). Additionally, regular physical activity has been associated with greater retention of first-year students and improved graduation rates (Huesman et al., 2009). Of notable importance are the effects of physical activity on mental health. In Canada, many university students deal with poor mental health and high levels of stress (American College Health Association, 2019; Canadian Alliance of Student Associations, 2022; Durand-Bush et al., 2015). Over the last decade, the proportion of students reporting psychological distress, mental illness diagnoses, and help seeking for mental health related challenges has been significantly increasing (Linden et al., 2021). However, regular physical activity participation may help to ameliorate these mental health concerns as physical activity has been associated with a reduction in perceived stress (Nguyen-Michel et al., 2006), lower rates of anxiety and depression (Tyson et al., 2010), and a reduced risk of hopelessness, depression, and suicide (Taliaferro et al., 2009).

Despite the well-established benefits, beginning university has been reported to coincide with a decrease in physical activity participation (Kwan et al., 2012; Larouche et al., 2012). Before the pandemic, on average, university students participated in inadequate levels of physical activity to attain health benefits (Irwin, 2007; Wilson et al., 2021). In 2019, only 13.3% of Canadian students (n = 55,284) reported participating in the recommended 150 minutes of MVPA per week (American College Health Association, 2019). There is both an immediate and long-term concern for the health and well-being of university students as a result of their high level of inactivity (e.g., increased immediate risk of depression and anxiety and long-term risk of chronic disease and premature mortality; I. M. Lee et al., 2012; Uddin et al., 2020). Like other health behaviours, physical activity habits developed in university are likely to endure throughout the lifespan (Keating et al., 2005; Kjønniksen et al., 2008). In an American study of college alumni (n = 380), researchers reported a significant association between exercise patterns as college seniors and later as alumni (Sparling & Snow, 2002). Specifically, 81.3% of participants who were insufficiently active as college seniors reported maintaining or reducing their physical activity levels for at least ten years after graduation (Sparling & Snow, 2002). The time spent in university may, therefore, be an opportune time to increase physical activity level and cultivate healthy lifestyle habits.

University Students and Sedentary Behaviour Pre-Pandemic

It has been established that university students are at a high risk of excessive and prolonged sedentary behaviour (Castro et al., 2020; Moulin et al., 2021). The physical environments at university campuses have been documented to lack opportunities for movement (von Sommoggy et al., 2020), while university living arrangements (i.e., living in a student residence), university lifestyle (i.e., social norms and peer pressure), and academic pressure (i.e., studying, classes, and exams) have been reported to encourage excessive sedentary behaviour (Deliens et al., 2015). Worryingly, the level of sedentary behaviour of university students has been increasing over the last decade (Castro et al., 2020). Castro and colleagues (2020) found that, on average, university students were accumulating a level of sedentary behaviour that has been associated with an elevated risk for detrimental health outcomes. Moulin and colleagues (2021; 2017) found that university students sat for an average of greater than approximately 11 hours per day, which substantially surpasses the sedentary time recommendations outlined in the Guidelines.

Reducing sedentary behaviour has important health and well-being implications among university students. In a study of American college students (n = 993), the participants predicted standing, instead of sitting, in class would improve their physical health, attention, and restlessness (Benzo et al., 2016). Hosteng and colleagues (2019) supported this contention as they found prolonged bouts of sedentary behaviour were associated with discomfort and sleepiness among university students. Additionally, Felez-Nobrega and colleagues (2018) found that taking breaks from sedentary behaviour every 10 to 20 minutes was associated with improvements in cognitive performance and may increase academic performance. Interestingly, university students with high amounts of daily MVPA have been reported to also participate in high amounts of sedentary time, highlighting the importance of exploring behaviours (Peterson et al., 2018).

University Students and Sleep Pre-Pandemic

Unfortunately, university students around the world commonly have not met recommendations for sufficient sleep (Becker et al., 2018; Gaultney, 2010; Lund et al., 2010). Patterns of insufficient sleep, poor sleep quality, and irregular sleep-wake times were reported in high levels among university students (Becker et al., 2018; Gaultney, 2010; Lund et al., 2010). In a 2017 study of Canadian university students, sleeping less than 6.5 hours a night was reported by 30.5% of participants (C. A. Brown et al., 2017). Furthermore, 66.5% of students reported insufficient sleep and 80.6% had not sought help (C. A. Brown et al., 2017). Among this population, poor sleep has been correlated with poor academic performance and physical and mental health difficulties (Orzech et al., 2011; Wong et al., 2013).

The Impact of the Pandemic on University Students and their Movement Behaviours

In Canada, university students have been identified as a group of adults who have been particularly impacted by the pandemic (Statistics Canada, 2020). At the onset of the pandemic, students reported high levels of academic challenges in addition to employment uncertainties and financial difficulties (Statistics Canada, 2020). As a consequence of necessary public health protections to curb the spread of COVID-19, students have faced numerous challenges including transitions to and from online learning, implications of physical distancing measures, learning disruptions, and the cancellation of enriched learning opportunities (e.g., labs, tutorials, field camps; Crawford et al., 2020). Additionally, the pandemic is likely to have affected future educational opportunities, job prospects, and financial stability (Appleby et al., 2022).

The numerous challenges experienced by university students during the pandemic are likely to have affected their health behaviours. Since the onset of the pandemic, university students around the world have been participating in less physical activity (Huber et al., 2020), more sedentary behaviour (Zheng et al., 2020), and more sleep (Benham, 2021; Wright et al., 2020) contrasted by worsened sleep quality (Hyun et al., 2021). However, these findings were from studies conducted early during the pandemic including during stay-at-home orders or initial periods of isolation (Benham, 2021; Huber et al., 2020; Hyun et al., 2021; Wright et al., 2020; Zheng et al., 2020). As the pandemic is a recent, on-going, and evolving public health crisis, it is important that researchers continue to monitor the state of movement behaviours as the pandemic continues.

Although researchers have found the negative influences of the pandemic on university students' sleep, physical activity, and sedentary behaviour, independently (e.g., Benham, 2021; Huber et al., 2020; Hyun et al., 2021; Wright et al., 2020; Zheng et al., 2020), few studies have

examined all movement behaviours simultaneously. Around the world, researchers have reported that the pandemic has been associated with a decrease in MVPA and a concurrent increase in sedentary behaviour among university students (Gestsdottir et al., 2021; Kowalsky et al., 2021; Luciano et al., 2021; Savage et al., 2021). Alongside negative changes to MVPA and sedentary behaviour, researchers reported reduced sleep quality (Gestsdottir et al., 2021), increased sleep duration (Luciano et al., 2021), increased screen time (Kowalsky et al., 2021), and decreased participation in muscle strengthening activities (Kowalsky et al., 2021) among university students since the pandemic's onset. These results suggest a shift towards unhealthful movement behaviour distributions among university students during the early months of the pandemic. Specific to the Guidelines and the Canadian university student context, very little research has been published since the onset of the pandemic. Bertrand and colleagues (2021) found that in April and May of 2020 (i.e., early in the pandemic) only 9.6% of Canadian university students were meeting the MVPA component, while 30% were meeting the sedentary time component of the Guidelines. These students retrospectively reported a significant decrease in meeting both the MVPA and sedentary time components after the onset of the pandemic (Bertrand et al., 2021). It is important to note that no assessment of meeting the Guidelines has been conducted since the initial months of the pandemic when stay-at-home orders and other stringent public health protections were in place. It is important to understand the state of university students' movement behaviours as they are continuing to navigate the pandemic while public health measures are being removed.

Correlates of Meeting the Guidelines

It is imperative that researchers and public health professionals work to understand and support changes to university students' movement behaviours to increase their compliance to the Guidelines. Before a potential behaviour change intervention can be implemented, it is important to first understand the correlates that impede or encourage students to meet the Guidelines (Graham et al., 2006). Presently, correlates have been widely studied *independently* for each behaviour included in the Guidelines (e.g., Castro et al., 2018; Deliens et al., 2015; F. Wang & Bíró, 2021). These factors are summarized in the content below. Nevertheless, the interconnectedness of these behaviours must not be dismissed. As the Guidelines are a recent addition to the literature, few researchers have explored the interconnected factors that may encourage or restrict an individual's ability to meet the Guidelines.

Thus far, two known studies have explored correlates of meeting the Guidelines. Buchan and colleagues (2020) explored the factors associated with Canadian high school students' compliance to the Guidelines, both cross-sectionally and longitudinally. Buchan et al. (2020) identified that participation in community sport along with parental support of physical activity were associated with an increased likelihood of meeting the Guidelines. Although this study examined an adolescent population, an interesting connection to university students can be noticed. During the transition from high school to university, patterns of parental support and social networks tend to shift and may serve different roles (Nelson et al., 2008). The years spent in university is often inundated with peer-to-peer interactions, such as living, attending classes, studying, and socializing with fellow students (Brooks, 2007). This leads to the contention that the parental support role in determining movement behaviours might be reallocated to peers, as they are a more common support system among young adults (Pugliese & Okun, 2014). Additional research is needed to understand patterns of evolving social influence on health behaviours during university (Nelson et al., 2008).

Specific to university students, Giouridis (2020) completed a qualitative study to examine the perceived barriers and facilitators to meeting the Guidelines among first-year university students in Canada. Giouridis (2020) found that influences operate on multiple levels to impact students' abilities to meet the Guidelines. Specifically, individual factors (i.e., perceptions of the Guidelines, motivation, fluctuating responsibilities), the social environment (i.e., personal relationships with family and peers, cultural influences), and the physical environment (i.e., infrastructure, environmental conditions) were potent influencers on first-year university students' ability to meet the Guidelines (Giouridis, 2020). In terms of social relationships, the author found that support from peers seemed to facilitate healthy physical activity and sedentary behaviours (Giouridis, 2020). However, some students mentioned that peers also deterred them from performing healthy movement behaviours (Giouridis, 2020). More research is needed to clearly outline these relationships. Although little research has examined the correlates specific to meeting the Guidelines, many studies have explored multidimensional factors that contribute to the individual movement behaviours. From reviewing the research, it is clear that there are commonalities in correlates among the movement behaviours, suggesting the importance of examining common correlates to more efficaciously support individuals to meet the Guidelines. **Physical Activity**

Among adults in general, Trost et al. (2002) found correlates of physical activity participation fell into six different categories: (1) demographic and biological factors; (2) psychological, cognitive, and emotional factors; (3) behavioral attributes and skills; (4) social and cultural factors; (5) physical environment factors; and (6) physical activity characteristics. Among university students specifically, researchers have also explored many multidimensional correlates (Carballo-Fazanes et al., 2020; Deliens et al., 2015). To date, no known review of physical activity correlates for university students has been completed; however, Silva and colleagues (2022) completed a systematic review to examine barriers to high school and university students' participation in physical activity. The review from Silva and colleagues (2022) offers an interesting perspective, as the difference in barriers between the two populations may be reflective of factors related to transitioning into university. That is, among high school students, the main barriers to physical activity were categorized into the following dimensions: psychological, emotional, and cognitive (lack of time and motivation); sociocultural (lack of social support); and environmental (lack of accessible places; Silva et al., 2022). However, among undergraduate university students, the main barriers to physical activity were psychological, emotional, and cognitive (lack of time and motivation); environmental (lack of accessible places); and socioeconomic and demographic (lack of financial resources; Silva et al., 2022). Interestingly, the barrier of lack of social support was not present among university students. This suggests there may be a change in social support upon entering university that might play a role in changes in physical activity behaviour. As the transition to university has been associated with decreases in physical activity participation (Bray & Born, 2004), understanding changes in correlates during this time may be especially pertinent to improving physical activity behaviour.

Researchers have underscored the interconnectedness of physical activity correlates with other movement behaviours. For example, Loustalot et al. (2013) found that students who met recommendations for muscle strengthening activities were more likely to also meet the MVPA recommendations. As well, Deliens and colleagues (2015) found students felt that factors that increase physical activity often decrease sedentary behaviour simultaneously. The interconnectedness of these behaviours suggests their correlates may also be connected and highlights a need for future research on these interconnected correlates.

Sedentary Behaviour

In 2018, Castro and colleagues conducted a systematic review to explore the many multilevel correlates of sedentary behaviour among university students. They found evidence of a range of correlates, including intrapersonal, interpersonal, environmental, and time (Castro et al., 2018). However, significant additional research is needed to draw concrete conclusions about these correlates and their specific influences on sedentary behaviour (Castro et al., 2018). In a qualitative study conducted by Deliens et al. (2015), the authors found that students perceived that their sedentary behaviour was influenced by individual factors (i.e., perceived enjoyment, self-discipline, time, and convenience), social influences (i.e., lack of social support, parental control, modelling), the physical environment (i.e., availability and accessibility, travel time/distance, prices), and the macroenvironment (i.e., media and advertising). Many studies have drawn attention to the influence of the physical campus environment and pervasive university culture, such as lecture hall seating and academic pressure, on university students' sedentary behaviour (Deliens et al., 2015; Moulin & Irwin, 2017; Prapavessis et al., 2015; Smetaniuk et al., 2017). Some of the studies evaluating sedentary behaviour also included considerations of physical activity, further highlighting the interconnectedness of these behaviours and their correlates (Deliens et al., 2015; Smetaniuk et al., 2017).

Sleep

Wang and Bíró (2021) conducted a systematic review and identified many multidimensional correlates of sleep behaviour among university students. The correlates were categorized into lifestyle correlates (e.g., smoking, physical activity), correlates related to mental health (e.g., depression, stress), social correlates (e.g., social relationships, racial discriminations), and physical factors (e.g., pain, sleep medications; F. Wang & Bíró, 2021). The inclusion of physical activity as a correlate of sleep, further contributed to the importance of considering the interconnectedness of movement behaviours. In terms of social relationships, the existence of healthy social relations has been associated with improved sleep quality (F. Wang & Bíró, 2021).

Interconnected Correlates of Movement Behaviours

In recent years, researchers have begun to focus on multiple health behaviour change, which is defined as "efforts to promote two or more health behaviors" (J. J. Prochaska et al., 2008, p. 3). To have the most efficacious influence on people, health promotion efforts should aim to simultaneously improve multiple health behaviours (J. J. Prochaska et al., 2008). A multiple health behaviour approach focuses on the link among health behaviours (Noar et al., 2008). Findings from researchers in the realm of multiple health behaviour change support the interconnectedness of movement behaviours and their correlates (J. J. Prochaska et al., 2008). Specifically, these findings have important implications in that the understanding of correlates is vital to developing effective behaviour change interventions. Further, Sweet and Fortier (2010) found that successfully changing a behaviour may contribute to increased motivation to change another, thereby increasing the likelihood of sequential behaviour changes. Some researchers caution that participants may view multiple behaviour change as overwhelming (Alageel et al., 2018). However, the interconnectedness of the behaviours in the Guidelines means that a change in one behaviour necessitates a change in one or more of the others. This, coupled with the opportunity to focus on correlates that independently play a role in all three behaviours, suggests an important opportunity for further research and understanding.

Social Support

One correlate that has been found to play an independent role in influencing physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep is social support (e.g., Galambos et al., 2013; Smetaniuk et al., 2017; Wallace et al., 2000). Social support was defined, by Heaney and Israel (2008, p. 191), as "aid and assistance exchanged through social relationships and interpersonal transactions". Broadly, social support has been identified as a factor that influences a person's ability to make and sustain healthy lifestyle behaviour changes (Williams et al., 2013). Importantly, social support is always intended (by the provider of the support) to be helpful, thus differentiating it from other negative social interactions and influences (Burg & Seeman, 1994).

There are a few distinctions that must be made when discussing social support. First, social support implies that support, or perception of support, is readily available when needed (Heaney & Israel, 2008). There is, therefore, a distinction between the support an individual received social support, and their perception of that support, called *perceived social support* (Heaney & Israel, 2008). While many researchers have not distinguished between these two classifications of social support, there is evidence to indicate that perceived social support is more consistently related to positive health outcomes (Uchino, 2009). Second, there are different types and sources of social support (Heaney & Israel, 2008). Types of support can include appraisal support (the provision of information), emotional support (provision of empathy, love, and caring), informational support (the provision of advice, suggestions, and information), and instrumental support (the provision of tangible aid and services; Heaney & Israel, 2008; House, 1981). Sources of social support vary, but have been shown to include primarily family, friends, peers, and significant others (Heaney & Israel, 2008; Tay et al., 2013). Social support is generated by the quantity, structure, and function of these social relationships

(House & Kahn, 1985). As briefly detailed above, social support is independently associated with all three movement behaviours. The relationship between social support and each movement behaviour will be explored in greater detail below, in addition to a brief review of the theoretical support for this relationship. Subsequently, preliminary findings related to the impact of the pandemic on university students' social support will be highlighted.

Physical Activity and Social Support

Wallace and colleagues (2000) found that, among university students, social support was one of the most influential environmental factors predicting exercise and physical activity behaviour. The results of numerous studies have supported this contention (Belanger & Patrick, 2018; Farren et al., 2017; Marmo, 2013; Rovniak et al., 2002). In fact, the effects of social support on physical activity are so pervasive, that research has developed around the topic of social support specific to physical activity (Belanger & Patrick, 2018). It is important to consider that social support for physical activity can come from a variety of sources such as family, friends, and coaches (Belanger & Patrick, 2018). The variety of social support forms include emotional support (e.g., encouragement, praise), informational support (e.g., advice, instruction), instrumental support (e.g., equipment, financial aid), modeling (e.g., demonstration), and coparticipation (e.g., performing physical activity together; Duncan et al., 2005; Laird et al., 2016). Even without considering specific sources or forms of social support, the general association of global social support and physical activity has been deemed to be positive (Belanger & Patrick, 2018). Social support has also been associated with various types of physical activity (Farren et al., 2017; VanKim & Nelson, 2013). For example, Farren and colleagues (2017) found that social support was particularly influential for muscle strengthening activities while VanKim and Nelson (2013) found social support was important for vigorous physical activity.

Sedentary Behaviour and Social Support

As previously mentioned, literature on the correlates of sedentary behaviour for university students is still cursory and requires additional research (Castro et al., 2018). Nevertheless, qualitative research has highlighted the beneficial influence of social support on sedentary behaviour (Smetaniuk et al., 2017). Smetaniuk and colleagues (2017) found university students were less sedentary if their peers enjoyed engaging in physical activity. Furthermore, one of the participants stated they were less sedentary and more active as a result of having people with whom to stay active (Smetaniuk et al., 2017).

Sleep and Social Support

Researchers have found that social support is an important correlate of sleep (Galambos et al., 2013; Kent de Grey et al., 2018; Krause & Rainville, 2020; Nieminen et al., 2013). Among adults, those who reported higher levels of social support tended to sleep longer than people with weaker social relationships (Kent de Grey et al., 2018). Krause and Rainville (2020) found that this relationship was more about the perception of social support, rather than simply the amount of support that a person receives. Among university students, Galambos and colleagues (2013) found that students reported significantly longer sleep duration when they reported higher social support. Similarly, Nieminen et al. (2013) found high levels of social support were associated with adequate duration of sleep.

Movement Behaviours and Social Support – Theoretical Support

The above-noted relationships between and among movement behaviours and social support are not surprising, given social support is an important construct contained in several commonly used health-related behavioural theories including, but not limited to: social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1986), theory of planned behaviour (Ajzen, 1991), the health action process
model (Schwarzer, 1992), the transtheoretical model (J. O. Prochaska & DiClemente, 1983), and self-determination theory (Ryan & Deci, 2017). Theories can help researchers understand why certain behaviours are changed and maintained and aid in explaining the link between correlates, such as social support, and health behaviours (Bleijenberg et al., 2018; Uchino, 2009).

Importantly, the aforementioned theories each highlight different aspects of the influence of social support on health behaviours. For example, Bandura (1989) underscored the importance of considering social support through social cognitive theory's self-efficacy promoting constructs such as verbal persuasion and vicarious experiences. In the health action process model, Schwarzer (1992) posited that instrumental, emotional, and informational social support can be particularly influential after an individual has formed a positive intention towards a behaviour. According to self-determination theory, social support may increase the basic psychological need of relatedness, the feeling of social connectivity and acceptance, thereby facilitating motivation for behaviour change (Ryan & Deci, 2017). While each theory has addressed social support in a different way, together, they underscore the value social support has in helping to facilitate behaviour change. The combination of these theoretical underpinnings draws further attention to the vast influences of social support on health behaviours, including the movement behaviours of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep. In sum, these and other theories underscore the relevance of social support in a wide range of health behaviours including those in the Guidelines.

University Students' Social Support During the Pandemic

Social support is a pertinent and timely variable to study within university student populations, as the pandemic has undoubtedly had an influence (Elmer et al., 2020; Lancaster & Arango, 2021). For example, Lancaster and Arango (2021) found that, for some students, physical distancing measures may have eliminated entire sources of social support or completely prevented the formation of new social support networks. Elmer and colleagues (2020) similarly found that, among university students in Switzerland, the university closures and physical distancing measures negatively affected the social integration of some individuals, leaving them partly isolated. The pandemic-related reduction in social support was also associated with an increased development of mental health problems (Elmer et al., 2020). Elmer and colleagues (2020) advocated for further research in this area as universities continue to develop hybrid teaching strategies for future academic years, especially for newly enrolled students who have not yet been able to form social ties with their peers.

Few researchers have explored social support and movement behaviours among university students during the pandemic. In a study of 2,688 college students in China, lower levels of internet addiction were associated with higher social support (Jiang et al., 2022). Among 459 college students in China, Tian and Shi (2022) found social support positively predicted exercise adherence during the pandemic. Similarly, among 230 American college students, Dziewior and colleagues (2022) found social support was the top facilitator of physical activity during the first year of the pandemic. Dziewior and colleagues (2022) also found a significant reduction in social support reported by students between May and September of 2020. No known researchers have thus far evaluated the connections between social support, sleep, and sedentary behaviour or multiple movement behaviours among university students during the pandemic.

Importance of Studying University Students' Movement Behaviours, and their Association with Social Support During the Pandemic

Prior to the pandemic, Weatherson and colleagues (2021) found the prevalence of Canadian university students' meeting the Guidelines was concerningly low. Since then, researchers examining movement behaviours and the lives of university students suggest that the pandemic may have greatly influenced university students' compliance to the Guidelines (Bertrand et al., 2021; Kowalsky et al., 2021; Liang et al., 2021; Luciano et al., 2021). However, no researchers have evaluated university students' compliance to all three recommendation, and all seven components, of the Guidelines in Canada since the onset of the pandemic. Understanding the current movement behaviours of university students, in the context of the ongoing pandemic, is needed to inform interventions to support optimal movement behaviours. The initial and ongoing pandemic response in Canada has and continues to vary across provinces, justifying a focus on Ontario students specifically (Detsky & Bogoch, 2020). As many public health protections are being removed, and students are returning to in-person class, it is unclear how the current university environment, as a result of the pandemic, might have changed university students' compliance to the Guidelines.

Perceived social support has been most consistently related to positive health outcomes (Uchino, 2009), and social support is known to independently affect all three movement behaviours captured in the Guidelines (Castro et al., 2018; Deliens et al., 2015; Krause & Rainville, 2020; Luchene & Delens, 2021; Smetaniuk et al., 2017). However, it is unclear whether there is an association between perceived social support and meeting the Guidelines overall. Furthermore, it is evident that university students' social support networks have been disrupted by the pandemic (Elmer et al., 2020; Lancaster & Arango, 2021). However, it is

unclear how the pandemic might have changed university students' perceived social support and thereby compliance to the Guidelines.

Study Purpose

Informed by the literature reviewed above, the first of this cross-sectional observational study's two-fold purpose was to assess the prevalence of full-time Ontario undergraduate university students meeting the Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines approximately two and a half years into the pandemic. It was hypothesized that fewer than 5% of Ontario university undergraduate students would be meeting the Guidelines. This was hypothesized because just prior to the pandemic starting, Weatherson et al. (2021) reported that 9.9% of students were meeting the Guidelines, and since the onset of the pandemic, researchers have reported concerning changes to university students' physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep (Benham, 2021; Huber et al., 2020; Wright et al., 2020). The second purpose of this study was to assess the association between meeting the Guidelines and perceived social support. Because social support has been associated with improvement to all three movement behaviours included in the Guidelines, it was hypothesized that perceived social support would be associated with an increased likelihood of meeting the Guidelines.

Chapter 3: Methods

Study Design and Sample Size

The current study was cross-sectional and observational. Sample size was calculated a priori for this study and considered both purposes. Following recommendations from Sharma et al. (2020), sample size was calculated for observational studies with a finite population using the variables of total population (i.e., the number of fulltime undergraduate students enrolled in Ontario universities; N) and margin of error (d) with the formula: sample required (n) = N/1+N*d². For the study's first purpose, the inclusion of a minimum of 400 participants was deemed sufficient for a population of 465,692 fulltime undergraduate students (Ontario Universities, 2022), with a 5% margin of error (p < 0.05). For the second purpose, a sample size of 262 was deemed sufficient for correlational analysis by G*Power Software (version 3.1) to achieve a power of 0.95, with a small effect size of 0.2 and $\alpha = 0.05$. As such, a target sample size of 400 was selected to encompass both purposes.

Eligibility Criteria and Associated Rationale

Participants were eligible to participate if they were: (1) registered as a full-time undergraduate student at an Ontario university; and (2) able to read and write in English. Participants were excluded from the study if they were: (1) a part-time student; (2) registered at a university outside of Ontario; (3) registered at a college; (4) registered in a professional or graduate program; and (5) unable to read and write in English. In Canada, the public health measures that were implemented in response to the pandemic were largely provincially mandated and varied between and among provinces across the country (Canadian Institute for Health Information, 2022). Therefore, the geographic limitation of Ontario-only students was selected. As universities and colleges in Ontario offer different learning experiences and program lengths, undergraduate university students were the sole focus. Part-time students were excluded to limit associated factors (e.g., full-time employment) that may have affected their movement behaviours. Finally, undergraduate students were selected as researchers have previously advocated for the importance of the early years of tertiary education in forming life-long movement habits (Nelson et al., 2008; Von Ah et al., 2004).

Recruitment

Upon receiving approval by the host institution's Health Science Research Ethics Board (#121144; Appendix A), data collection began, spanning September 19th to December 8th, 2022. Fulltime undergraduate students from Ontario universities were recruited by convenience sampling. Recruitment graphics (see Appendix B) were circulated on university-affiliated social media pages including through Facebook, Instagram, LinkedIn, Twitter, and Reddit. A total of 2,824 student groups from all public universities in Ontario were contacted through their public email addresses to request they share the recruitment graphic with their members (see Appendix C). At the host institution, participants were also recruited by mass email (see Appendix C) and professor announcements (see Appendix D). A total of 3 mass emails (i.e., one approximately every 4 weeks of recruitment) were sent to all full-time undergraduate students at the host institution. To facilitate professor course-based announcements, the members of the research team compiled a list of all professors from the host institution teaching any undergraduate courses for the Fall 2022 semester. A total of 740 professors were contacted via email and asked to share the recruitment graphic with their undergraduate class(es). The email requests both to student groups and professors did not ask for a response; therefore, it is unknown how many complied with the request. The recruitment graphic and mass email included a link to the letter of information (see Appendix E), consent, and contact information for the researchers. All

participants confirmed their eligibility and provided informed consent prior to completing the survey.

Data Collection

The start of data collection occurred two weeks after classes began for the fall term, to limit any influence related to the start of school and return from summer holiday. The end of data collection coincided with the end of classes, in an effort to reduce influence related to changes in student behaviour during final exams and the end of term period. Upon consenting, participants were asked to complete an online survey using Qualtrics^{XM} (Qualtrics, Provo, UT).

Data Collection Tools

At the time of this study, to the best of the research team's awareness, no tool existed to assess compliance with the Guidelines. Instead, a collection of previously validated scales was administered to assess whether participants were meeting each component of the Guidelines, in addition to demographic questions.

Demographic Information. Participants were asked to complete a demographic questionnaire that included measures of age, gender, ethnicity, year of study, residence status (i.e., on- vs. off-campus), number of roommates (including family members), mode of course delivery (i.e., in-person, hybrid, or online), number of course hours, university of registration, and field of study (e.g., engineering, health sciences). The demographic questions, and specific wording, were informed by best practices recommended by the University of British Columbia's Equity & Inclusion Office (2020).

Physical Activity Recommendation. A combination of tools was used to assess the MVPA, light physical activity, and muscle strengthening activity components of the physical activity recommendation.

MVPA Component. The International Physical Activity Questionnaire – Short Form (IPAQ-SF; Craig et al., 2003; see Appendix F) was used to assess if participants were meeting the MVPA component of the Guidelines. Among adults aged 18 to 65, the IPAQ-SF produced repeatable data (Spearman's ρ between 0.66 and 0.88). Craig and colleagues (2003) found between 93% and 100% agreement on a test-retest evaluation for the measure of greater than 150 minutes per week of at least moderate intensity physical activity, which was the applicable measure for this study. Compared to accelerometry, the IPAQ-SF had a median criterion validity of about 0.30, which was comparable to the criterion validity of other self-report physical activity questionnaires (Craig et al., 2003). The IPAQ-SF has been specifically validated for use with university student populations (spearman $\rho = 0.28$; Murphy et al., 2017). The IPAQ-SF includes seven items, six of which assess physical activity at varying intensities, and one of which assesses sitting time. Participants are asked to submit the number of days per week that they participate in each intensity of physical activity, as well as the time in minutes and hours. Craig and colleagues (2003) provided recommendations for data cleaning and truncation.

Light Physical Activity Component. Two study-specific questions were created by the research team to assess light physical activity. The questions were modelled after the IPAQ-SF and read "During the last 7 days, on how many days did you do light physical activities like walking at a slow pace, standing work or light housework such as washing dishes?" and "How much time did you usually spend doing light physical activities on one of those days?". Examples of light physical activity were taken from the Guidelines.

Muscle Strengthening Activities Component. Meeting the muscle strengthening activities component of the Guidelines was assessed via the Muscle-Strengthening Exercise Questionnaire Short Form (MSEQ-SF; Shakespear-Druery et al., 2022a; see Appendix G).

Among a sample of adults, the MSEQ-SF showed high Spearman's rank correlations (ρ range 0.76–0.91; Shakespear-Druery et al., 2022a). Compared with a 7-day log, the MSEQ-SF showed high Spearman's rank correlation for concurrent validity (ρ range 0.58–0.77). As this was a relatively new measure, it had not yet been validated with university students, specifically. The MSEQ-SF includes six items that measure frequency, type, duration, intensity, and targeted muscle groups for muscle strengthening activities. The MSEQ-SF does not include a total summary score.

Sedentary Behaviour Recommendation. Questions from a combination of tools were used to assess the three components of the sedentary behaviour recommendation of the Guidelines.

Sedentary Time Component. The IPAQ-SF includes one question to measure average daily time engaged in sedentary behaviour. This question asks, "During the last 7 days, how much time did you spend sitting on a week day?" (Craig et al., 2003; see Appendix F). Participants were asked to submit their response in minutes and hours. Adequate reliability and validity have been demonstrated for this sitting question (mean Spearman's $\rho = 0.33$;. Craig et al., 2003).

Recreational Screen Time Component. To reduce participant burden, rather than including an additional scale, a study-specific question was added to assess meeting the screen time component of the sedentary behaviour recommendation. The question about recreational screen time was taken from the International Sedentary Assessment Tool (Prince et al., 2017) and was phrased "On a typical day in the past week, how much time did you spend sitting, reclining, or lying down and watching TV or using a computer, tablet, or smartphone during your free time?". Participants were asked to provide their response in minutes and hours. At the time

of the current study, reliability and validity measures were not available for this question, likely due to the difficulty of objectively delineating one type of sedentary behaviour from another (Prince et al., 2017). In their review of sedentary behaviour measurement tools for population health surveys, Prince et al. (2017) underscored that even in the absence of psychometric properties, many self-report sedentary behaviour surveys remain useful given their correlation with health behaviour risk.

Break Frequency Component. To reduce participant burden, rather than including an additional scale, a study-specific question was added to assess the break frequency component of the sedentary behaviour recommendation. The question about break frequency was taken from the South Australian Physical Activity Survey (Dollman et al., 2016) and was phrased, "How often do you take regular breaks (every 15–20 minutes) when sitting for long periods?" with response options: Always; Sometimes; Rarely; Never". To score the question, responses are to be coded 1 to 4 with lower scores indicating more frequent breaks (Dollman et al., 2016). At the time of current study, no psychometric properties were available for this question.

Sleep Component and Recommendation. To assess whether participants were meeting the sleep recommendation, sleep duration from the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) was used (Buysse et al., 1989). The question was phrased, "During the past month, how many hours of actual sleep did you get at night? (This may be different than the number of hours you spend in bed"; Buysse et al., 1989, p. 209). The PSQI is a widely-used, 19-item questionnaire that measures 7 domains: subjective sleep quality, sleep latency, sleep duration, habitual sleep efficiency, sleep disturbances, use of sleep medications, and daytime dysfunction (Buysse et al., 1989). The PSQI has well-established psychometric properties (Chronbach's alpha = 0.83; Buyesse et al., 1989). Among university students, the PSQI sleep duration component showed

moderate convergent validity with a sleep diary (r = 0.51; Dietch et al., 2016). Researchers have previously followed the practice of using a single question from the PSQI to assess sleep duration among university students (e.g., Benham, 2021; Quick et al., 2016).

Perceived Social Support. To assess perceived social support, the Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support (MSPSS) scale was used (Zimet et al., 1988; see Appendix H). The MSPSS is a 12-item scale that measures perceived social support from three sources: family, friends, and significant others (Zimet et al., 1988). Each item is presented on a seven-point Likert scale ranging from 'very strongly disagree' (1) to 'very strongly agree' (7; Zimet et al., 1989). The MSPSS has good psychometric properties among adults (Cronbach's alpha = 0.88; Zimet et al., 1989) and adequate psychometric properties among university students in the United States (Cronbach's alpha = 0.91; Ermis-Demirtas et al., 2018) and Turkey (Cronbach's alpha = 0.93; Başol, 2008). Examples of items include: 'There is a special person who is around when I am in need', 'My family really tries to help me', and 'I can count on my friends when things go wrong' (Zimet et al., 1988). To score the MSPSS, Zimet and colleagues (1988) advised calculating an average score across all 12 items to yield a score between one and seven with higher scores indicating greater perceived social support.

Data Analysis

Statistical analyses were conducted using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS; Version 28) and Excel using the Real Statistics Resource Pack (Release 7.6). All statistical analyses and presentation decisions were made collaboratively with consultants from Western Data Science Solutions. The dataset was examined for missing data and Little's Missing Completely at Random Test was used to explore mechanism of missingness (Little, 1988). There were minimal missing data (0.2%), and it was found that data was missing completely at random

(p = .106). As such, and considering the large sample size, listwise deletion was employed and only participants providing complete data were utilized for analyses (per Kang, 2013).

To report the prevalence of the sample of full-time Ontario undergraduate university students' meeting the Guidelines, descriptive statistics were used. Because the Guidelines are comprised of three recommendations (i.e., physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep) which are made up of seven components (i.e., MVPA, muscle strengthening activities, light physical activity, sedentary time, recreational screen time, break frequency, and sleep), the number of students who were meeting each individual component was first calculated.

Physical Activity Recommendation

MVPA Component. As the IPAQ-SF is not intended to assess the Guidelines specifically, deviation from the published scoring protocol was required. To calculate the amount of MVPA each participant reported per week, the time in each intensity of physical activity (i.e., vigorous, moderate, and walking) was summed. Given that Craig et al. (2003) recommended any physical activity reported in the walking domain be calculated at 3.3 METs, it posed a challenge as to whether or not walking time should be included in MVPA. That is, by definition, moderate physical activities include movements requiring between 3 and 5.9 METS (Ainsworth et al., 2012), which would indicate walking should be classified as MVPA. However, according to the compendium of physical activities (Ainsworth et al., 2012), walking activities require between 2.0 and 10.0 METs, suggesting that walking may also occur at a light intensity. As the distinction between walking at a light or moderate intensity was not made in the current study, whether students were meeting the MVPA component was calculated both including and excluding walking. As such, the number of participants meeting the physical activity recommendation, and the overall Guidelines, was calculated both including and excluding walking. To assess if

students were meeting the MVPA component of the physical activity recommendation, weekly minutes of each intensity of physical activity were calculated by converting all time to minutes, applying truncation and data cleaning rules per Craig et al. (2003), and multiplying average minutes per day by the number of days reported for each intensity of physical activity in the last week. Total weekly MVPA (excluding walking) was calculated by summing weekly minutes of vigorous and moderate activities. Total weekly MVPA (including walking) was calculated by summing weekly minutes of vigorous, moderate, and walking activities. Per the Guidelines, participants who reported engaging in at least 150 minutes of MVPA per week were classified as having met the MVPA component. Following the calculation of total MVPA per week, a dummy variable was created to score whether participants were meeting the MVPA component (1 = met component, 0 = did not meet component).

Muscle Strengthening Activities. To assess compliance to the muscle strengthening activities component of the physical activity recommendation, the number of days per week of participating in muscle strengthening activities, scored from zero to seven, was assessed. Per the Guidelines, students were classified as meeting the muscle strengthening activities component if they reported participating in at least 2 days of muscle strengthening activities per week. A dummy variable was created to score whether participants were meeting the muscle strengthening the muscle strengthening activities component (1 = met component, 0 = did not meet component).

Light Physical Activity. To assess if students were meeting the light physical activity component of the physical activity recommendation, the number of weekly minutes of light physical activity was calculated by converting all time to hours and multiplying the hours per day by the number of days of light physical activity in the last week. Then, daily average light physical activity time (i.e., weekly time divided by seven) was calculated to facilitate comparison to the Guidelines. The goal of "several hours of light physical activity" from the Guidelines (Ross et al., 2020, p. S70) was operationalized as an average of 3 hours per day, similar to practices from Bailey and colleagues (2022). Therefore, students were classified as meeting the light physical activity component if they reported participating in an average of at least 3 hours per day of light physical activities. A dummy variable was created to score whether or not participants were meeting the light physical activity component (1 = met component, 0 = did not meet component).

If students met the MVPA, muscle strengthening activities, and light physical activity components, they were classified as meeting the physical activity recommendation.

Sedentary Behaviour Recommendation

Sedentary Time Component. To assess if the participants were meeting the sedentary time component, daily sedentary behaviour was determined by converting time submitted in minutes and hours to hours. Data was cleaned to exclude any outliers (i.e., participants who reported more than 16 hours per day of sedentary time per Craig et al. 2003). Per the Guidelines, participants were classified as meeting the sedentary time component if they reported less than 8 hours of sedentary behaviour per day. A dummy variable was created to score whether participants were meeting the sedentary time component (1 = met component, 0 = did not meet component).

Recreational Screen Time Component. To assess if the participants were meeting the recreational screen time component, daily recreational screen time was determined by converting time submitted in minutes and hours to hours. As no data cleaning or truncation guidance was available for the recreational screen time question (Prince et al., 2017), data was cleaned to exclude any outliers following practices recommended by the IPAQ-SF creators (i.e.,

participants who reported more than 16 hours per day of recreational screen time were excluded; Craig et al., 2003). Per the Guidelines, participants were classified as meeting the recreational screen time component if they reported less than 3 hours of recreational screen time per day. A dummy variable was created to score whether participants were meeting the recreational screen time component (1 = met component, 0 = did not meet component).

Break Frequency. To assess compliance to the break frequency component of the Guidelines, it was interpreted that the 'always' or 'sometimes' response options suggested a positive indication that participants were taking regular breaks, while the 'rarely' or 'never' options indicated participants were not taking regular breaks were scored as not meeting the Guidelines. As the Guidelines suggest "breaking up long periods of sitting as often as possible" (Ross et al., 2020, p. S70), participants were classified as meeting the break frequency component if they reported 'always' or 'sometimes' taking regular breaks. A dummy variable was created to score whether participants were meeting the break frequency component (1 = met component, 0 = not meeting component).

If students met the sedentary time, break frequency, and recreational screen time components, they were classified as meeting the sedentary behaviour recommendation.

Sleep Recommendation

To assess if the participants were meeting the sleep recommendation, data was first cleaned to exclude any outliers (i.e., submitted more than 24 hours of sleep per night). Per the Guidelines, participants were classified as meeting the sleep duration component, and therefore sleep recommendation, if they reported between 7 and 9 hours of sleep per day. A dummy variable was created to score whether participants were meeting the sleep duration component (1 = met component, 0 = not meeting component).

The Guidelines

Students who met the physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep recommendations were classified as meeting the Guidelines. For each participant, the number of individual components and recommendations they were meeting was determined by summing the dummy variables for each. Each participant was also classified according to how many, and what combination of recommendations they were meeting and placed into one of the following categories: no recommendations, sleep only, sedentary behaviour only, physical activity only, sleep + sedentary behaviour, sleep + physical activity, sedentary behaviour + physical activity, or sleep + sedentary behaviour + physical activity.

Social Support

To measure the association between perceived social support and meeting the Guidelines, a series of biserial correlations were conducted. Correlation coefficients were calculated between social support and meeting each of the individual components and recommendations. Preliminary analysis identified that the summary social support variable was not normally distributed. Therefore, a reflection and natural log transformation was completed. After transformation, analysis showed (a) no outliers, as assessed by boxplot; (b) perceived social support score was normally distributed, as assessed by Q-Q plots; and (c) there was homogeneity of variances, as assessed by Levene's test for equality of variances. Therefore, all biserial correlations were conducted using transformed data to better match assumptions of normality. To assess the association between the number of components and recommendations met and perceived social support, Kendall's tau-b correlation coefficient was calculated. As Kendall's tau-b is a non-parametric measure, the untransformed data were used. A biserial correlation was planned between meeting the Guidelines and social support but was not possible as detailed in the results sections below.

Chapter 4: Results

Demographics

A total of 508 undergraduate students registered across 19 universities in Ontario completed the online survey. Participants predominantly identified as a woman (68.8%, n = 346), with a majority reporting white/European ethnicity (67.3%, n = 342), and a mean age of around 20 years. Participants were distributed across years of study, with the majority being in first (30.8%, n = 155) or second year (25.6%, n = 129). The majority of participants indicated registration at Western University (62.4%, n = 317). There was also a wide distribution in field of study, with the highest proportions studying health sciences (28.94%, n = 147), social sciences (23.23%, n = 118), and biological sciences (21.06%, n = 286), with an average of 16.7 hours of class per week. Participants were primarily living with friends or roommates in off-campus accommodations (n = 216; 42.9%), with an average of 2.7 roommates. Full demographic details can be found in Table 1.

Table 1.

Demographic Characteristics of Participants (n = 508)

| Characteristic | Number and proportion of sample (%) or SD | |
|---|---|--|
| Gender | | |
| Woman | 346 (68.8%) | |
| Man | 129 (25.6%) | |
| Non-Binary | 16 (3.2%) | |
| Gender Fluid | 7 (1.4%) | |
| Other | 3 (0.6%) | |
| I prefer not to answer | 2 (0.4%) | |
| Mean Age in Years | 20.1 (SD: 3.0) | |
| Self-Identified Race/Ethnicity | | |
| White/European | 342 (67.3%) | |
| Southeast Asian (e.g., Chinese, Japanese, Korean) | 69 (13.6%) | |

| South Asian (e.g., East Indian, Sri Lankan) | 49 (9.6%) |
|--|----------------------------|
| Caribbean | 19 (3.7%) |
| Latin, Central, and South American | 16 (3.1%) |
| Arab (e.g., Saudi Arabian, Palestinian, Iraqi) | 14 (2.8%) |
| African | 13 (2.6%) |
| Indigenous (First Nations, Metis, or Inuit) | 8 (1.6%) |
| West Asian (e.g., Iranian, Afghani) | 4(0.8%) |
| Other (e.g., Egyptian, Jewish, Biracial) | 4(0.8%) |
| I prefer not to answer | 1(0.2%) |
| Current Year of Study | 1 (0.270) |
| First | 155 (30.8%) |
| Second | 129 (25.6%) |
| Third | 99(197%) |
| Fourth | 90 (17 9%) |
| Fifth | 20(4.0%) |
| Six + | 6(1.2%) |
| I prefer not to answer | 4(0.8%) |
| I jving Arrangement | + (0.070) |
| Off-campus (with roommates/friends) | 216 (42 9%) |
| On-campus (with roommates/friends) | 118(23.4%) |
| Off-campus (with family) | 106(21.0%) |
| Off-campus (with significant other) | 24(4.8%) |
| Off-campus (alone) | 24(4.070) 21 (4 2%) |
| On campus (alone) | 21(4.2%) 10(3.8%) |
| Number of Poormates | 27(SD: 16) |
| Mode of Course Delivery | 2.7 (SD. 1.0) |
| In person | 286(5660) |
| Hybrid (mix of in person and online) | 230(50.0%) 217(42.7%) |
| Online | 2(0.4%) |
| Hours of Classes per Week | 2(0.470) 167 (SD: 7.5) |
| University | 10.7 (5D. 7.3) |
| Western University | 317 (62 40%) |
| University of Ottawa | 317(02.40%) |
| Ninissing University | 24 (4 72%) |
| University of Guelph | 24(4.72%) 23(4.53%) |
| Corleton University | 23(4.5570) 18(25404) |
| Brock University | 16(3.34%) 16(3.15%) |
| Liniversity of Terente | 10(3.15%) 12(2.26%) |
| Tropt University | 12(2.3070) 11(2.1704) |
| Other | 11(2.1770) |
| Field of Study | 44 (0.00%) |
| Health Sciences | 147 (28 040/) |
| Social Sciences | 147(20.94%) 118(22.22%) |
| Diclogical Sciences | 110(23.23%) 107(21.06%) |
| Engineering | 107(21.00%) |
| Engineering Ducinees Studies | 47 (7.03%) 41 (9.070/) |
| Business Studies | 41 (8.07%) |

| Physical Sciences | 40 (7.87%) |
|---|------------|
| Computer Science | 21 (4.13%) |
| Languages, Linguistics, Literatures, Cultures & Societies | 20 (3.94%) |
| Education Studies | 14 (2.76%) |
| Historical, Philosophical & Religious Studies | 13 (2.56%) |
| Mathematics | 13 (2.56%) |
| Creative Arts & Design | 11 (2.17%) |
| Media and Communication Studies | 10 (1.97%) |
| Other | 19 (3.74%) |
| I prefer not to answer | 2 (0.39%) |

Note. Not all categories summed to equal 508 due to missing data. The values and proportions may exceed 508 or 100% respectively as participants were able to select multiple options for self-identified race/ethnicity and field of study.

Meeting the Guidelines

As described in the data analysis section, participants were removed as outliers if they reported engaging in a physical activity or sedentary behaviour time-based variable for over 16 hours in one day, or the sleep variable for over 24 hours in one day (per recommendations from Buysse et al., 1989; Craig et al., 2003). The fewest number of outliers were removed in the sleep duration component (n = 4, 0.7%), while the largest number of outliers were removed in the sedentary time component (n = 68, 13.4%). After the removal of outliers, 422 participants had complete data for all components and were included in the analysis of level of compliance to the Guidelines (i.e., number of met components or recommendations). The percentage of the sample who met each of the components and recommendations can be found in Table 2. Only one participant (0.2%) was meeting the overall Guidelines (i.e., all of the components). Of the recommendations (i.e., physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep), the sleep recommendation was most commonly met (n = 294, 58.3%). Comparatively, 74 participants (17.6%) were meeting the sedentary behaviour recommendation, 42 participants (8.4%) were meeting the physical activity recommendation when walking was included, and 32 participants

(6.4%) were meeting the physical activity recommendation when walking was excluded. When considering the individual components, the MVPA (walking included) component was met most often (n = 478, 94.7%). Conversely, the component that was met least often was light physical activity (n=128, 25.5%).

The majority of participants were meeting only one of the three recommendations (n=219, 51.9%, including walking; n=221, 52.4%, excluding walking). Of those who met only one recommendation, it was most often the sleep recommendation (n=186, 44.1%), including walking; n=189, 44.8%, excluding walking – when walking was included three participants newly met the physical activity recommendation, meaning they no longer were categorized as meeting sleep only). When walking was included as MVPA, 65 participants (15.4%) were meeting two of the recommendations, while 137 participants (32.5%) were not meeting any of the recommendations. When walking was not included as MVPA, 61 participants (14.5%) were meeting two of the recommendations, while 139 participants (32.9%) were not meeting any of the recommendations. Of those meeting two of the recommendations, the most common combination was to meet both the sleep and sedentary behaviour recommendations (n=46, 10.9%). The breakdown of number of recommendations met, and the respective combinations, can be found in Table 3. When considering the components within each behavioural recommendation, it was most common for participants to be meeting four components out of the possible seven components (n=116, 27.5%, with walking; n=103, 24.4%, without walking). The breakdown of number of components met can be found in Table 4.

Table 2.

Movement behaviours of participants, and the number and percent of participants meeting the components, recommendations, and

Guidelines (n = 508)

| Behaviour | <i>M</i> (SD) | Meeting # (%) | Not meeting # (%) |
|---|---------------|---------------|-------------------|
| Physical Activity Recommendation (including walking) | - | 42 (8.4%) | 456 (91.6%) |
| Physical Activity Recommendation (excluding walking) | - | 32 (6.4%) | 467 (93.6%) |
| MVPA Component (including walking; mins/week) | 854.6 (600.1) | 478 (94.7%) | 27 (5.3%) |
| MVPA Component (excluding walking; mins/week) | 318.5 (364.6) | 288 (56.9%) | 218 (43.1%) |
| Muscle Strengthening Activities Component (days/week) | 1.64 (2.0) | 215 (42.4%) | 292 (57.6%) |
| Light Physical Activity Component (mean hours/day) | 2.0 (2.1) | 128 (25.5%) | 373 (74.5%) |
| Sedentary Behaviour Recommendation | - | 74 (17.6%) | 346 (82.4%) |
| Sedentary Time Component (hours/day) | 7.9 (3.2) | 263 (60.0%) | 175 (40.0%) |
| Recreational Screen time Component (hours/day) | 4.8 (3.2) | 187 (38.1%) | 304 (61.9%) |
| Break Frequency Component | - | 271 (53.5%) | 236 (46.5%) |
| Sleep Recommendation (hours/night) | 6.8 (1.2) | 294 (58.3%) | 210 (41.7%) |
| Guidelines (including walking) | - | 1 (0.2%) | 421 (99.8%) |
| Guidelines (excluding walking) | - | 1 (0.2%) | 421 (99.8%) |

Note. Not all categories sum to equal 508 due to missing data and data removed as outliers.

Table 3.

Number and which of the recommendations are met by participants (n=422)

| Number of Recommendations Met | Number (%), | Number (%), |
|---|------------------|------------------|
| Number of Recommendations wet | walking included | walking excluded |
| No Recommendations | 137 (32.5%) | 139 (32.9%) |
| One Recommendations | 219 (51.9%) | 221 (52.4%) |
| Only Physical Activity | 12 (2.8%) | 10 (2.4%) |
| Only Sedentary Behaviour | 21 (5.0%) | 22 (5.2%) |
| Only Sleep | 186 (44.1%) | 189 (44.8%) |
| Two Recommendations | 65 (15.4%) | 61 (14.5%) |
| Physical Activity + Sleep | 15 (3.6%) | 12 (2.8%) |
| Physical Activity + Sedentary Behaviour | 4 (0.9%) | 3 (0.7%) |
| Sleep + Sedentary Behaviour | 46 (10.9%) | 46 (10.9%) |
| All Recommendations | 1 (0.2%) | 1 (0.2%) |

Note. Participants could report meeting between zero and three recommendations.

Table 4.

Number of participants meeting the components of the Guidelines (n=422)

| Number of Components | Number (%), walking included | Number (%), walking excluded |
|----------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------------------|
| No Components | 2 (0.5%) | 14 (3.3%) |
| One Components | 24 (5.7%) | 46 (10.9%) |
| Two Components | 67 (15.9%) | 73 (17.3%) |
| Three Components | 87 (20.6%) | 87 (20.6%) |
| Four Components | 116 (27.5%) | 103 (24.4%) |
| Five Components | 76 (18%) | 57 (13.5%) |
| Six Components | 49 (11.6%) | 41 (9.7%) |
| Seven Components | 1 (0.2%) | 1 (0.2%) |

Note. Participants could report meeting between zero and seven components.

Associations with Social Support

A biserial correlation coefficient was calculated between social support and independently meeting each of the components and recommendations. As only one participant was meeting the Guidelines, no correlation was calculated between meeting the overall Guidelines and social support. As a transformation was performed to meet the assumption of normality, the direction of the correlation is reflected. There was a small statistically significant correlation between meeting the physical activity recommendation (including walking) and social support ($r_b = -.18$, p = .002). This result should be interpreted with caution, as the dichotomy is lopsided ($P_0 = 0.91$) which may limit its accuracy (Guilford, 1942). There was a small statistically significant correlation between meeting the sedentary time component and social support ($r_b = -.13$, p = .03). There were no statistically significant correlations between social support and meeting any other recommendations or components of the Guidelines. The correlation coefficients and p-values can be found in Table 5.

Table 5.

Biserial correlation coefficient $\left(r_{b}\right)$ of social support and meeting the components and

recommendations of the Guidelines

| Recommendation or Component | r _b | p-value |
|--|-----------------------|---------|
| Physical Activity Recommendation (including walking) | -0.18 | 0.002* |
| Physical Activity Recommendation (excluding walking) | -0.08 | 0.14 |
| MVPA Component (including walking) | -0.03 | 0.54 |
| MVPA Component (excluding walking) | -0.04 | 0.47 |
| Muscle Strengthening Activities Component | -0.06 | 0.29 |
| Light Physical Activity Component | -0.06 | 0.25 |
| Sedentary Behaviour Recommendation | 0.09 | 0.15 |
| Sedentary Time Component | -0.13 | 0.03* |
| Recreational Screen Time Component | -0.01 | 0.8 |
| Break Frequency Component | -0.01 | 0.85 |
| Sleep Recommendation | 0.01 | 0.92 |

Note. An asterisk (*) indicates statistical significance (p = < 0.05).

A Kendall's tau-b correlation coefficient was calculated to determine the association

between social support and the number of recommendations and components met. For all cases,

there was a weak, positive association between meeting the recommendations or components of

the Guidelines, that was not statistically significant. The correlation coefficients and p-values can

be found in Table 6.

Table 6.

Correlation coefficient (Kendall's τ_b) of social support and meeting the components and

recommendations of the Guidelines

| Measure of Meeting the Guidelines | 7b | p-value |
|---|------|---------|
| Number of Recommendations (including walking) | .028 | .475 |
| Number of Recommendations (excluding walking) | .014 | .722 |
| Number of Components (including walking) | .057 | .113 |
| Number of Components (excluding walking) | .063 | .079 |

Chapter 5: Discussion

To the best of the research team's knowledge, this was the first study to examine university students' compliance to the Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines (i.e., the Guidelines) since the onset of the pandemic in March 2020. Furthermore, the current study provides novel insight into the movement behaviours of university students as it was the first known study to include all components of the Guidelines. Moreover, it was the first study to consider the association between compliance to the Guidelines and perceived social support. As university students' were identified as having poor movement behaviours before the pandemic (Ross et al., 2020), and the early months of pandemic coincided with concerning changes to the movement behaviours included in the Guidelines (Benham, 2021; Huber et al., 2020; Hyun et al., 2021; Wright et al., 2020; Zheng et al., 2020), understanding the distribution of students' movement behaviours as the pandemic continues and evolves by assessing compliance to the Guidelines is paramount.

The most salient finding from the current study is the lack of students who were meeting the overall Guidelines, with only one student (0.2%) meeting all components of the Guidelines. As the Guidelines are still quite new, few studies have examined university students' compliance to the overall Guidelines. Our findings are similar, though more concerning, to those of Weatherson and colleagues (2021) who, in their study of 20,090 university students in Canada before the pandemic, found only 9.9% of students were meeting the Guidelines. Similarly, in a study of 403 American college students before the pandemic, Bailey and colleagues (2022) assessed compliance to the Canadian Guidelines and found 8.44% of students were meeting the Guidelines. It is important to note that both Bailey et al. (2022) and Weatherson et al. (2021) did not examine all components of the Guidelines. Weatherson and colleagues (2021) examined the

MVPA, sedentary time, recreational screen time, and sleep components of the Guidelines. However, they did not include considerations for the muscle strengthening activities, light physical activity, or break frequency components of the Guidelines. Similarly, Bailey and colleagues (2022) only examined compliance to the light physical activity, MVPA, sedentary time, and sleep components of the Guidelines. Since the current study included a more fulsome representation of compliance to the Guidelines, it is not surprising that the level of compliance was even lower than previously documented.

The current study may reflect poorer compliance to the Guidelines than has previously been reported as it was conducted during the pandemic. It has been well-documented that problematic changes to all movement behaviours encompassed in the Guidelines were observed during the early months of the pandemic (Benham, 2021; Huber et al., 2020; Hyun et al., 2021; Wright et al., 2020; Zheng et al., 2020). As the current study was cross-sectional, it is impossible to know if students were engaging in poorer movement behaviours as a result of or simply coincident with the pandemic. However, one must consider that at the time of the current study, participants had experienced over two years of challenges and disruption related to the pandemic. In the current study, over three quarters of the sample were in their first three years of university, suggesting they began university during the pandemic. Aside from the pandemic, the transition to university is a challenging and vulnerable time of life (Baik et al., 2015). These challenges have been compounded by uncertainties and difficulties related to the pandemic (Busonera et al., 2023; McKay et al., 2021). Researchers regularly highlight the importance of targeting university students' movement behaviours (e.g., Castro et al., 2020; Frederick et al., 2023; Visser & Hirsch, 2014), as the university years are known to be a time when students develop life-long habits (Nelson et al., 2008; Von Ah et al., 2004). Given the extremely poor compliance to the

Guidelines reported in the current study, compounded by the challenges of the pandemic, the population of current university students is clearly an important group to target in future intervention.

It is imperative that something be done to address the poor movement behaviours of university students in Ontario. Previous researchers have found numerous associations between meeting the Guidelines and mental health outcomes, including lower anxiety (Bu et al., 2021), lower depressive symptoms (Frederick et al., 2023), reduced suicidal ideation (D. M. Y. Brown, Hill, et al., 2022), and improved mental health (D. M. Y. Brown, Faulkner, et al., 2022; Frederick et al., 2023; Liang et al., 2021). Significant declines in the mental health of university students have been documented in recent years (American College Health Association, 2019) and improving compliance to the Guidelines may prove to be an avenue to help improve this poor mental well-being. Furthermore, there is a paucity of research examining the association of physical health indicators and the Guidelines among university students. Bailey and colleagues (2022) found that meeting the MVPA and sleep components of the Guidelines were associated with lower body mass index. Among adults, a systematic review from Janssen and colleagues (2020) found composition of daily movement behaviours was associated with reductions in allcause mortality, adiposity, and cardiometabolic biomarkers. As university students are building behavioural habits for the future (Nelson et al., 2008; Von Ah et al., 2004), attention to improving movement behaviours during this time of life may provide lasting physical health benefits later in life. Furthermore, addressing the Guidelines presents a unique opportunity to foster healthy behaviours from multiple avenues, as altering the time spent in one behaviour directly results in a change to the time spent in another behaviour. To highlight areas of concern, findings from the current study for each component of the Guidelines will be discussed below

and opportunities will be highlighted to alter the distribution of behaviours to positively influence university students.

The participants in the current study reported poor compliance to the physical activity recommendation with fewer than one tenth of participants meeting all three components of the physical activity recommendation regardless of whether walking was included or not included in the analyses. To our knowledge, no researchers have previously considered compliance to all three components of the physical activity recommendations (i.e., MVPA, light physical activity, and muscle strengthening activity). However, researchers have previously examined compliance to both MVPA and muscle strengthening activity components. For instance, in a study of 7,088 Irish college students, Shannon and colleagues (2022) reported that 41% of participants met both the MVPA and muscle strengthening activity components. Similarly, Wilson and colleagues (2019) found, among their sample of 606 American college students prior to the pandemic, 40.3% met both the MVPA and muscle strengthening activity components. Although not explicitly analyzed together, the results of the current study appear to be similar as almost all participants met the MVPA component when walking was included and just under half of the participants were meeting the muscle strengthening activities component, similar to findings from Wilson et al. (2019) and Shannon et al. (2022). However, when considering light physical activity as well the results of the current study depict much lower compliance to the overall physical activity recommendations. As such, light physical activity might be an important target in future interventions intending to help increase students' compliance to the overall physical activity recommendations.

The MVPA component of the Guidelines (i.e., the measurement of aerobic activity) is most commonly cited in the literature when referencing university students' insufficient physical

53

activity participation (e.g., Clemente et al., 2016; Fagaras et al., 2015; Peterson et al., 2018). The results of the current study are contradictory in that when walking was included almost all participants met the MVPA component. However, when walking was excluded, just over half of the participants were meeting the MVPA component of the Guidelines, which is similar to levels reported by other researchers before the pandemic. For example, Weatherson and colleagues (2021) found, among a sample of 20,090 university students in Canada, that 61.1% were meeting the MVPA component before the pandemic. Weatherson et al. (2021) measured MVPA using a modified version of the IPAQ-SF which included walking at a self-reported moderate or vigorous intensity in the calculation of MVPA time. Wilson and colleagues (2019) reported, among a sample of 606 college students in the United States before the pandemic, 71.0% met recommendations for 150 minutes per week of MVPA. However, Wilson et al. (2019) assessed MVPA using the Global Physical Activity Questionnaire (Bull et al., 2009), which does not separate walking from other types of physical activity and therefore includes any walking at a moderate to vigorous intensity. Weatherson et al. (2021) and Wilson et al. (2019)'s inclusion of walking at a moderate or vigorous intensity as an MVPA behaviour might help to explain why these authors' findings for compliance to the MVPA component fell between the current study's findings of MVPA when walking at any intensity was or was not included. Conversely, Bertrand and colleagues (2021) found that, among their sample of 125 university students in Saskatchewan, 16% of the participants were meeting the MVPA component before the pandemic and only 9.6% met the component during the pandemic. However, Bertrand and colleagues (2021) utilized the Godin Leisure-Time Exercise Questionnaire (Godin & Shephard, 1985), which measures exercise during free time, including walking, at a mild, moderate, and vigorous intensity. Therefore, Bertrand and colleagues (2021) may not have captured other types of

physical activity such as during work or transportation, which may explain their reporting of lower level of compliance to the Guidelines.

It is well documented that the pandemic has had negative effects on the physical activity, and the MVPA specifically, of university students (Dziewior et al., 2022; López-Valenciano et al., 2021). However, in a review of studies from the early months of the pandemic, López-Valenciano and colleagues (2021) found, despite overall reductions in physical activity duration, students who met minimum physical activity recommendations (i.e., 150 minutes per week) before the pandemic generally met the recommendations during the pandemic. This may explain the similarities between our findings and that of Weatherson et al. (2021) and Wilson et al. (2019), in that participants may have experienced decreased level of activity during the pandemic but not to the point of changing whether or not they were meeting the MVPA component of the Guideline. Furthermore, the majority of published studies investigating university students' physical activity since the onset of the pandemic have been conducted cross-sectionally and during the early months of the pandemic when the most stringent public health protections were in place (Canadian Institute for Health Information, 2022). As such, at this time it is difficult to know whether students have been able to increase their physical activity from the level of decline observed at the beginning of the pandemic.

In Canada, the average post secondary student takes around 4.5 years to complete their education (Statistics Canada, 2023). As such, many students have graduated since the onset of the pandemic and a new cohort of students has completed high school and entered university during this time. Considering poor physical activity was observed in Canadian youth (Colley & Watt, 2022; Watt & Colley, 2021) during the early months of the pandemic, it stands to reason that populations of incoming university students continue to be at increased risk for the

deleterious effects of poor movement behaviours. It is also likely that changes in the education system, such as online or hybrid learning, that have been spurred by the pandemic and might impact students' movement behaviours will remain prevalent (Xie et al., 2020). In a study of 238 university students in the United States, Rice and colleagues (2019) found total MET minutes per week were significantly higher among students attending classes in-person, compared to online. In the current study, despite the option for in-person learning, almost half of the participants in the current study were participating in some amount of online learning. As such, it is important that future interventions and studies consider the implications of these educational delivery changes on students' movement behaviours and aim to support students' healthy movement patterns, regardless of pandemic status or learning modality.

Interestingly, when walking was included in MVPA, almost all participants in the current study were meeting the MVPA component of the Guidelines, but when walking is excluded, that figure dropped to just over half meeting the component. The difference between compliance level when including or excluding walking points to the importance of clearly articulating the targets in the Guidelines and utilizing appropriate methods of data collection. In previous studies, researchers have conceptualized walking documented by self-report as both MVPA (e.g., Bennie et al., 2019) and light physical activity (e.g., López-Valenciano et al., 2021), often without consideration for walking intensity. When utilizing the IPAQ-SF, participants are instructed not to count any walking time in their reporting of vigorous and moderate activities (Craig et al., 2003). However, if walking is entirely excluded from calculations of MVPA time, it is likely time spent in MVPA will be missed as many speeds/types of walking would fall into the category of moderate, or even vigorous, activity (Ainsworth et al., 2012). This was reflected in an IPAQ-SF validation study conducted by Murphy and colleagues (2017) who did not include

walking time in their calculation of MVPA for comparison with accelerometery. Murphy and colleagues (2017) found the IPAQ-SF underestimated MVPA compared to accelerometry. Murphy and colleagues (2017) suggested this may have been because participants did not consider their active transport and occupational movements as physical activity, in turn causing the self-report measures to underestimate MVPA when compared to accelerometry. Both active transportation and occupational movements could reasonably include walking behaviours, which leads one to posit that excluding walking from the calculation of MVPA may also have been partially responsible for the underestimation of MVPA by the IPAQ-SF in Murphy et al.'s (2017) study. These results lend to the notion that future iterations of the Guidelines should clearly articulate what is considered MVPA. Furthermore, researchers should specify how MVPA was reported and calculated to allow consistent comparison. The development of a tool specifically intended to measure compliance to the Guidelines would also be a beneficial addition to rectify discrepancies in the literature. Scheers and colleagues (2013) supported this notion with their finding that the prevalence of participants achieving sufficient physical activity differed greatly depending on the definition of physical activity and the data collection method used.

In reality, it is likely that students engage in walking behaviours at both a light and greater intensity. However, the dramatic difference in achieving sufficient MVPA when walking was included or excluded suggests walking is a common behaviour among university students. This is unsurprising, as previous researchers have noted that university students in Canada are likely to utilize active transportation (e.g., walking or cycling for transportation; Nash & Mitra, 2019). In fact, a study of 2,873 French university students found active transportation to be the most common type of physical activity in students' daily lives. The popularity of active

commuting is highly beneficial for student populations as it provides a simple, inexpensive, and easy opportunity for increased physical activity (Palma-Leal et al., 2021). Walking is associated with numerous physical and mental health benefits, regardless of age or sex (Kelly et al., 2017). Future studies should aim to examine the amount of university students' walking time that is classified as MVPA.

Since walking appears to be an amenable type of physical activity for university students, walking-related interventions may prove to be beneficial among this population. Previous researchers have corroborated this assumption, in walking-related interventions during both leisure-time and commuting time. For example, a campus forest-walking program improved physical and psychological health among 60 university students in Seoul, South Korea (Bang et al., 2017). In the United States, students (n = 563) engaged in a higher average percentage of active trips after a campaign using a smartphone application and social media promotion (Bopp et al., 2018). Interventions have also been successful at improving walking behaviour, not specific to leisure or commuting time. Caso and colleagues (2021) found a messaging intervention was effective at improving psychological variables and walking behaviour among a sample of 156 Italian university students. The findings of the above studies confirm that walking may be a viable modality of physical activity to target in intervention with university students and could be applied more broadly.

When compared to MVPA, muscle strengthening activities are often overlooked as a public health opportunity for chronic disease prevention (Bennie et al., 2020). The results of the current study suggest that less than half of the participants were meeting the muscle strengthening activities component of the Guidelines. This finding represents an important contribution to the literature, as many studies that assess compliance to physical activity

58

recommendations fail to consider the muscle strengthening activity component (Wilson et al., 2021). Although no known research has been published that reports on compliance to the muscle strengthening activities component of the Guidelines among university students in Canada, our findings are similar to those of researchers in the United States who examined compliance to the same recommendation (i.e., to engage in at least 2 days per week of muscle strengthening activities) from the 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee (2018). In a study of 606 college students in the United States, Wilson and colleagues (2019) found 44.4% of students were meeting muscle-strengthening recommendations. Furthermore, a scoping review (n = 8 studies from the United States) that measured compliance to the muscle strengthening activity component found the median number of students meeting recommendations was 47.8% (Wilson et al., 2021). These findings suggest interventions are needed to help increase the number of university students regularly engaged in muscle strengthening activities.

General reductions in physical activity, including MVPA and muscle-strengthening activities, among university students during the pandemic have been posited as being influenced by public health protections that mandated the closures of gyms and other recreation facilities as well as due to reduced active transportation to campuses (Bertrand et al., 2021). Importantly, this study was conducted at a time where many public health protections were no longer in place and the majority of students in the current study were attending at least some of their classes in person, and more than half were attending only in-person classes. Therefore, with university students continuing to report concerning levels of compliance to the Guidelines, it is possible that poor movement behaviour habits developed during the early months of the pandemic may now be ingrained in this population. When addressing movement behaviours moving forward, it is important to recognize disparities that have been observed in physical activity participation among university students. For example, Wilson and colleagues (2019) documented a decreased likelihood to meet MVPA and muscle strengthening activity components among university students who identified as racial/ethnic minorities and women. In the current study, the sample predominantly identified as women, which may have contributed to the poor level of compliance to the physical activity components. Wilson and colleagues (2021) advocate for the continued importance of examining and targeting sociodemographic factors in future research and intervention.

Although few studies have reported levels of light physical activity among university student populations, light physical activity has important implications in reducing all-cause mortality (Chastin et al., 2019; Ekelund et al., 2019). The current study identified light physical activity as an area of concern for university students, with only a quarter of participants reporting an average of at least 3 hours per day. Of all seven components of the Guidelines, light physical activity was least often met by students in the current sample. The poor compliance to the light physical activity component observed in the current study contrasts results observed by Bailey and colleagues (2022), who found 70.47% of students were engaging in 3 or more hours of light physical activity per day. However, Bailey and colleagues (2022) objectively measured light physical activity using accelerometers. Researchers have demonstrated that self-report is not always accurate when measuring light physical activity (Haskell, 2012). In the future, researchers may explore employing objective measurements of physical activity, including light physical activity, to ensure accuracy of findings. However, one must also acknowledge the difficulty of employing objective measurement on such a large population and during a pandemic. In an effort to reduce participant burden, the current study employed an additional question rather than an extra scale to assess light physical activity. Recognizing the
impracticality of objective measurement while also considering the importance of accurate results, future researchers may consider the use of a full tool that has been validated specifically for the purpose of assessing light physical activity (e.g., Barwais et al., 2014). The recording of walking behaviour may also have played a role in the low level of light physical activity reported in the current study. Depending on type and speed, walking may be classified as light physical activity (Ainsworth et al., 2012). As students had already reported their walking time in the IPAQ-SF, they may have not considered this behaviour when answering the additional question related to light physical activity. In the current study, it was not possible to decern the level of intensity of the reported walking behaviour and therefore it was not included as light physical activity. Furthermore, the light physical activity question specified that slow walking should be included and therefore including walking measured in the IPAQ-SF may have resulted in counting the same behaviour twice. As previously highlighted, it is important that future studies attempt to delineate the intensity of walking behaviours to accurately reflect compliance to the Guidelines.

Surprisingly, although most participants in the current study did not meet the overall sedentary behaviour recommendations, a lower than expected proportion (40.0%) reported more than 8 hours of sedentary time per day. This is a very unusual finding, as previous researchers have reported much higher levels of sedentary behaviour among university students (Moulin et al., 2021), especially during the pandemic (Romero-Blanco et al., 2020). Bailey et al. (2022) found only 15.38% of students were meeting the sedentary time component before the pandemic. Similarly, Weatherson and colleagues found 22.1% of students were meeting the sedentary time component of the Guidelines, before the pandemic. That said, on average, students in the current study were engaging in 7.9 hours of sedentary behaviour per day, which is very close to the

upper limit of the recommended amount. It is possible the unusually high compliance to the sedentary time recommendation in the current study was partially due to the exclusion of a large number of outliers for the sedentary time component, as over one tenth of participants were excluded for reporting more than 16 hours of sedentary time each day. It is possible that some accurate data were incorrectly removed as outliers. Additionally, the measure used in the current study asked participants to report the time spent sitting in a day, which means the results do not reflect sedentary time spent reclining or lying down. As such, the results of the current study should be interpreted with caution and future research should be conducted to examine university students' sedentary time beyond the initial months of the pandemic.

The results of the current study suggest many students were not taking frequent breaks when engaging in long periods of sedentary behaviour. Few researchers have previously reported the frequency and duration of university students taking breaks in sedentary behaviour (Castro et al., 2020). To our knowledge, no studies have specifically conceptualized and measured compliance to the break frequency component of the Guidelines, making it unclear how findings from the current study compare to others. Low levels of light physical activity, in conjunction with high levels of sedentary time and recreational screen time and infrequent engagement in sedentary behaviour breaks, presents an important opportunity for the transfer of time spent in each behaviour. In a study of 21 university students, frequent light physical activity breaks had a positive impact on cognitive performance compared to idle sitting (Y. Wu et al., 2023). Similarly, Felez-Nobrega and colleagues (2018) determined that breaking up sedentary behaviour every 10 to 20 minutes was associated with higher academic achievement. Achieving sufficient light physical activity is also of particular importance, as simply meeting the MVPA or muscle strengthening components is not sufficient to protect against the negative health effects of excessive sedentary behaviour (Thorp et al., 2011). As such, future interventions should aim to transfer sedentary time to light physical activity among university students by encouraging more frequent and lightly active breaks. For example, classroom movement breaks have been shown to be a feasible and effective strategy to increase physical activity and reduce sedentary behaviour among university students (Lynch et al., 2022).

Sedentary behaviour among university students often extends to outside the classroom, with time spent engaging in recreational screen time presenting a large concern (Deyo et al., 2023; Lavados-Romo et al., 2021). In the current study, less than half of the participants were meeting the recreational screen time component. This finding mirrors that of Weatherson and colleagues (2021), who found that only 36.2% were engaging in less than 3 hours per day of recreational screen time, as recommended by the Guidelines. These findings are concerning because in addition to contributing to sedentary time, recreational screen time has been associated with unique health risks among university students, including higher anxiety, depression, stress (Deyo et al., 2023) and lower quality of life, specifically in the domains of psychological and social health (Lavados-Romo et al., 2021). Moving forward, interventions would be sensitive to consider that time spent engaged in recreational screen time would be better spent engaged in any intensity of physical activity.

With more than half of participants in the current study achieving the recommended 7 to 9 hours of sleep per night, sleep was the most commonly met recommendation. This is not surprising, as it is also the simplest recommendation being comprised of only one component. The findings of the current study are similar to that of Bailey and colleagues (2022) found 58.56% of students were achieving the recommended 7 to 9 hours of sleep per night. The results also mirror those from Weatherson and colleagues (2021) who found that 59.7% of students

were meeting the sleep recommendation. The results of the current study may also reflect changes in sleep patterns that were observed at the beginning of the pandemic. A systematic review from Valenzuela and colleagues (2023; n = 72 studies from 22 countries) reported increased sleep duration among university students during the pandemic, while simultaneously reported decreased sleep quality. As the current study did not include a measure of sleep quality, it is impossible to know whether students in the sample were experiencing good or poor sleep quality. Future studies should aim to include a measure of sleep quality, as the Guidelines do include the recommendation of achieving "good-quality sleep" (Ross et al., 2020, p. S70). Interestingly, the average number of hours of sleep per night reported by participants in the current study (i.e., 6.8 hours) is still outside the recommended 7 to 9 hours per night. As such, there may be a subset of students who are engaging in significantly below the recommended amount of sleep and would be a valuable target for future sleep-related intervention. Importantly, the authors of the Guidelines recognize that improvements to the physical activity recommendation should not compromise sleep (Ross et al., 2020).

The level of compliance to the Guidelines highlighted throughout the current study is extremely concerning. Such a low level of compliance leads to the possibility that the Guidelines might not be aligned with realistic and attainable targets for movement behaviours of university students. Moving forward, it is important that appropriate steps are taken to disseminate the recommendations laid out in the Guidelines and encourage attainable changes to movement behaviours among university students. Holllman and colleagues (2022) suggested the importance of balancing the evidence base for health behaviour guidelines with pragmatic implementation, so the Guidelines are not perceived as a barrier or ignored. Researchers have also highlighted the need for a comprehensive messaging plan to disseminate the Guidelines (Faught et al., 2020). At the time of the current study, the Guidelines were still relatively new, but a knowledge translation plan had been conceptualized (Tomasone et al., 2020), and implementation interventions among university students were in the works (Flood et al., 2023). Knowledge translation may be an effective strategy to improve university students' movement behaviours, as a study of 44 university students from the University of British Columbia suggested low awareness of the Guidelines (Barghouthi et al., 2022). The students in the study perceived that improving awareness would encourage behaviour change (Barghouthi et al., 2022), although future research is needed to confirm this assertation.

In addition to educating students about the Guidelines, it is important to recognize and address the factors inherent in university student life that increase the difficulty to achieve a healthful distribution of movement behaviours. Universities themselves may have an important role to play in disseminating and facilitating healthier movement behaviours amongst their students. This role is recognized by the Okanagan Charter (International Conference on Health Promoting Universities and Colleges, 2015), which calls upon "higher education institutions to incorporate health promotion values and principles into their mission, vision and strategic plans, and model and test approaches for the wider community and society" (p. 5). As such, universities should take an active role in supporting students to strive towards meeting the Guidelines. Holt and colleagues (2015) suggested universities may influence and support students through a number of factors including their policies, facilities and services, environment, curriculum, and research. These avenues of influence have often been highlighted in the research as targets for interventions. For example, researchers have called for universities to support movement behaviours through changes to physical environments such as offering sit-stand desks, improving recreation facilities, and offering bicycle parking (Abdullah & Mohamad, 2016; von Sommoggy

et al., 2020). Universities may also embed support in learning through curriculum or class-based strategies, such as offering movement breaks in classes or embedding lifestyle interventions within courses (Peiris et al., 2021; Plotnikoff et al., 2015). Moving forward, universities should identify an overarching strategy with tangible action items, articulate on-going targets, and set achievable and specific goals towards increasing students' compliance to the Guidelines (Squires & London, 2021).

The findings of the current study demonstrate association between perceived social support and compliance to two subsections of the Guidelines. Specifically, in the current study perceived social support was associated with meeting the physical activity recommendation (walking included) and sedentary time component. A small statistically significant positive association was observed between the physical activity recommendation when walking was included suggesting those with higher perceived social support were more likely to meet this recommendation. However, this result must be interpreted with caution as the number of participants who were meeting the recommendation was much smaller than the number of participants who were not. This result was anticipated, as increased social support is regularly associated with increased physical activity (Belanger & Patrick, 2018; Farren et al., 2017; Marmo, 2013; Rovniak et al., 2002). For example, in a study of 230 American college students, social support was reported as the top facilitator to physical activity during the pandemic (Dziewior et al., 2022). Interestingly, social support was not associated with meeting the physical activity recommendation when walking was excluded. It is, therefore, possible that social support had a unique influence on walking-related physical activity, which may lend to types of interventions that may be effective to increase walking MVPA or light physical activity. For instance, walking groups have been shown to be an effective way to increase physical activity

and social support (Kassavou et al., 2013). Alternatively, forming clubs or organizations related to active transportation may increase both MVPA and social support (Bopp et al., 2011). Further research is needed to corroborate these findings, and further examine social support as a correlate of meeting the MVPA component of the Guidelines.

As participants' self-reported perceived social support increased, so too did their likelihood of meeting the sedentary time component of the Guidelines. This is an interesting finding, as previous research into the associations between social support and sedentary time is limited (Smetaniuk et al., 2017). Previous qualitative research has suggested that university students were less sedentary if their peers enjoyed engaging in physical activity and as a result of having people with whom to stay active (Smetaniuk et al., 2017). This suggests the relationship between sedentary time and social support might be mediated by physical activity. As the Guidelines have the unique benefit of addressing the composition of time spent in each behaviour, and the results of the current study advocate for the transfer of time spent being sedentary to time being more physically active, future research should more closely examine these associations. Elevated and increasing sedentary behaviour has been highlighted by researchers as a concern among university student populations (Castro et al., 2020). The results of the current study suggest increasing perceived social support may provide a benefit toward students' engagement in less sedentary time per day.

Prior to the pandemic, social support was independently associated with the movement behaviours included in the Guidelines (e.g., Galambos et al., 2013; Smetaniuk et al., 2017; Wallace et al., 2000). However, in the present study perceived social support was not associated with meeting more components or recommendations of the Guidelines. It is possible that although increased social support may be associated with improved movement behaviours (i.e., increased physical activity and sleep, and reduced sedentary behaviour), the association may not be related to the cut-points set out in the Guidelines. Although beyond the scope of the current paper, future studies may benefit from employing compositional data analysis to model the associations between movement behaviours and their correlates (see Chastin et al., 2015 for an example). Compositional data analysis techniques are intended for use with compositional variables, such as the fixed 24-hour time spent in various movement behaviours (Chastin et al., 2015). As well, future research should examine other types of social support and social influences as researchers have shown friends and social norms do play a role in whether or not students are meeting the Guidelines (Anderson et al., 2022; Bu et al., 2021).

Limitations

The present study provided novel insights into all components of the Guidelines, which had previously not been examined among university students during the pandemic. Although this study provides valuable insight into the breath of university students' movement behaviours outlined in the Guidelines, it is not without limitations. Firstly, the tools used to assess each movement behaviour were not intended to be used with the cut-points identified in the Guidelines and therefore were not validated for this study's specific purposes. Moving forward, continued monitoring of compliance to the Guidelines is critical. To facilitate the ease of this monitoring, it would be beneficial if a tool was specifically designed and validated to measure all components of the Guidelines. The design of a concise but effective tool would greatly improve the ability to monitor and advocate for behaviour change. The homogeneity of the demographics of sample (e.g., most participants identified as female and attended the host institution) in the current study may limit the generalizability of the study findings. Caution should be used when applying the findings to university students more broadly. The current study was cross-sectional in nature and therefore does not reflect or account for factors that influence students' movement behaviour throughout the course of a semester (e.g., midterms, exams, weather). As well, the cross-sectional nature means no causal inferences can be drawn for any associations between social support and meeting the components of the Guidelines. Finally, the current study was conducted using self-report data, which is known to be susceptible to social desirability bias and may over- or underestimate compliance to the Guidelines.

Conclusions

The results of the current study suggest undergraduate university students in Ontario were largely not meeting the Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines two and half years into the COVID-19 pandemic. Specifically, only one participant met all recommendations set out in the Guidelines. Meeting the sedentary time component of the Guidelines was associated with social support. Although additional research is needed using a Guideline-specific measurement tool to more accurately assess the prevalence of university students' meeting the Guidelines, the current study points to the need for meaningful intervention to improve the movement behaviours of university students. Social support may be beneficial to help students improve their movement behaviours, specifically by helping to reduce their sedentary time.

References

- 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee. (2018). 2018 physical activity guidelines advisory committee scientific report. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. https://health.gov/sites/default/files/2019-09/PAG_Advisory_Committee_Report.pdf
- Abdullah, N., & Mohamad, N. (2016). University recreational facilities service quality and students' physical activity level. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 224, 207– 212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.05.443
- Ainsworth, B. E., Haskell, W. L., Herrmann, S. D., Meckes, N., Bassett Jr, D. R., Tudor-Locke, C., Greer, J. L., Vezina, J., Whitt-Glover, M. C., & Leon, A. S. (2012). 2011
 compendium of physical activities: A second update of codes and MET values. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 4(8), 1575–1581.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yspm.2011.08.057
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 50(2), 179–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T
- Alageel, S., Gulliford, M. C., McDermott, L., & Wright, A. J. (2018). Implementing multiple health behaviour change interventions for cardiovascular risk reduction in primary care: A qualitative study. *BMC Family Practice*, *19*, Article 171. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12875-018-0860-0
- American College Health Association. (2019). American college health association-national college health assessment II: Canadian consortium executive summary spring 2019. https://www.acha.org/documents/ncha/ncha-

ii_spring_2019_canadian_reference_group_executive_summary.pdf

- Anderson, K. J., Spink, K. S., & Bhargava, S. (2022). To move or not to move while on campus: Examining the influence of others. *Journal of American College Health*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2022.2058880
- Appleby, J. A., King, N., Saunders, K. E., Bast, A., Rivera, D., Byun, J., Cunningham, S., Khera, C., & Duffy, A. C. (2022). Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the experience and mental health of university students studying in Canada and the UK: A cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open*, *12*(1), Article e050187. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2021-050187
- Arnett, J. J. (2000). Emerging adulthood: A theory of development from the late teens through the twenties. *American Psychologist*, 55(5), 469–480. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.5.469
- Baik, C., Naylor, R., & Arkoudis, S. (2015). The first year experience in Australian universities: Findings from two decades, 1994-2014. https://melbournecshe.unimelb.edu.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0016/1513123/FYE-2014-FULL-report-FINAL-web.pdf
- Bailey, C. P., Lowry, M., Napolitano, M. A., Hoban, M. T., Kukich, C., & Perna, F. M. (2022). Associations between college/university physical activity requirements and student physical activity. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/02701367.2021.2009431
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory (pp. xiii, 617). Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- Bandura, A. (1989). Human agency in social cognitive theory. *American Psychologist*, 44(9), 1175–1184. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.44.9.1175

- Bang, K.-S., Lee, I., Kim, S., Lim, C. S., Joh, H.-K., Park, B.-J., & Song, M. K. (2017). The effects of a campus forest-walking program on undergraduate and graduate students' physical and psychological health. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 14(7), Article 728. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14070728
- Barghouthi, S., d'Anjou, E., Lam, N., Ong, M., & Taylor, D. (2022). An evaluation of student awareness and participation in the Canadian 24-hour movement guidelines at UBC.
 University of British Columbia Library. https://doi.org/10.14288/1.0421540
- Barwais, F. A., Cuddihy, T. F., Washington, T., Tomson, L. M., & Brymer, E. (2014).
 Development and validation of a new self-report instrument for measuring sedentary behaviors and light-intensity physical activity in adults. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, *11*(6), 1097–1104. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2012-0118
- Başol, G. (2008). Validity and reliability of the multidimensional scale of perceived social support-revised, with a turkish sample. *Social Behavior and Personality: An International Journal*, *36*(10), 1303–1313. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.2008.36.10.1303
- Becker, S. P., Jarrett, M. A., Luebbe, A. M., Garner, A. A., Burns, G. L., & Kofler, M. J. (2018).
 Sleep in a large, multi-university sample of college students: Sleep problem prevalence, sex differences, and mental health correlates. *Sleep Health*, 4(2), 174–181.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleh.2018.01.001
- Belanger, N. M. S., & Patrick, J. H. (2018). The influence of source and type of support on college students' physical activity behavior. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, *15*(3), 183–190. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2017-0069
- Benham, G. (2021). Stress and sleep in college students prior to and during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Stress and Health*, *37*(3), 504–515. https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.3016

- Bennie, J. A., De Cocker, K., Teychenne, M. J., Brown, W. J., & Biddle, S. J. H. (2019). The epidemiology of aerobic physical activity and muscle-strengthening activity guideline adherence among 383,928 U.S. adults. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 16(1), Article 34. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-019-0797-2
- Bennie, J. A., Shakespear-Druery, J., & De Cocker, K. (2020). Muscle-strengthening exercise epidemiology: A new frontier in chronic disease prevention. *Sports Medicine - Open*, 6(1), Article 40. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40798-020-00271-w
- Benzo, R. M., Gremaud, A. L., Jerome, M., & Carr, L. J. (2016). Learning to stand: The acceptability and feasibility of introducing standing desks into college classrooms. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 13(8), Article 823. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph13080823
- Bertrand, L., Shaw, K. A., Ko, J., Deprez, D., Chilibeck, P. D., & Zello, G. A. (2021). The impact of the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic on university students' dietary intake, physical activity, and sedentary behaviour. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism*, 46(3), 265–272. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2020-0990
- Biswas, A., Oh, P. I., Faulkner, G. E., Bajaj, R. R., Silver, M. A., Mitchell, M. S., & Alter, D. A. (2015). Sedentary time and its association with risk for disease incidence, mortality, and hospitalization in adults. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *162*(2), 123–132. https://doi.org/10.7326/M14-1651
- Bleijenberg, N., De Man-van Ginkel, J., Trappenburg, J., Ettema, R., Sino, C., Heim, N.,Hafsteinsdottir, T., Richards, D., & Schuurmans, M. (2018). Increasing value andreducing waste by optimizing the development of complex interventions: Enriching the

development phase of the medical research council (MRC) framework. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 79, 86–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2017.12.001

- Bopp, M., Kaczynski, A., & Wittman, P. (2011). Active commuting patterns at a large, midwestern college campus. *Journal of American College Health*, 59(7), 605–611. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2010.518327
- Bopp, M., Sims, D., Matthews, S. A., Rovniak, L. S., Poole, E., & Colgan, J. (2018).
 Development, implementation, and evaluation of active lions: A campaign to promote active travel to a university campus. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 32(3), 536–545. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890117117694287
- Bray, S. R., & Born, H. A. (2004). Transition to university and vigorous physical activity: Implications for health and psychological well-being. *Journal of American College Health*, 52(4), 181–188. https://doi.org/10.3200/JACH.52.4.181-188
- Briggs, A. R. J., Clark, J., & Hall, I. (2012). Building bridges: Understanding student transition to university. *Quality in Higher Education*, 18(1), 3–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/13538322.2011.614468
- Brooks, R. (2007). Friends, peers and higher education. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 28(6), 693–707. https://doi.org/10.1080/01425690701609912
- Brown, C. A., Qin, P., & Esmail, S. (2017). "Sleep? Maybe later..." A cross-campus survey of university students and sleep practices. *Education Sciences*, 7(3), Article 66. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci7030066
- Brown, D. M. Y., Faulkner, G. E. J., & Kwan, M. Y. W. (2022). Healthier movement behavior profiles are associated with higher psychological wellbeing among emerging adults

attending post-secondary education. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *319*, 511–517. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2022.09.111

- Brown, D. M. Y., Hill, R. M., & Wolf, J. K. (2022). Cross-sectional associations between 24-h movement guideline adherence and suicidal thoughts among Canadian post-secondary students. *Mental Health and Physical Activity*, 23, Article 100484. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhpa.2022.100484
- Bu, H., He, A., Gong, N., Huang, L., Liang, K., Kastelic, K., Ma, J., Liu, Y., Chen, S.-T., & Chi, X. (2021). Optimal movement behaviors: Correlates and associations with anxiety symptoms among Chinese university students. *BMC Public Health*, *21*(1), Article 2052. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-12116-6
- Buchan, M. C., Carson, V., Faulkner, G., Qian, W., & Leatherdale, S. T. (2020). Factors associated with students meeting components of Canada's new 24-hour movement guidelines over time in the COMPASS study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(15), Article 15. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17155326
- Bull, F. C., Maslin, T. S., & Armstrong, T. (2009). Global physical activity questionnaire (GPAQ): Nine country reliability and validity study. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 6(6), 790–804. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.6.6.790
- Buman, M. P., Winkler, E. A. H., Kurka, J. M., Hekler, E. B., Baldwin, C. M., Owen, N., Ainsworth, B. E., Healy, G. N., & Gardiner, P. A. (2014). Reallocating time to sleep, sedentary behaviors, or active behaviors: Associations with cardiovascular disease risk biomarkers, NHANES 2005-2006. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 179(3), 323–334. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwt292

- Burg, M. M., & Seeman, T. E. (1994). Families and health: The negative side of social ties. Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 16(2), 109–115. https://doi.org/10.1093/abm/16.2.109
- Busonera, A., Lampis, J., & Cataudella, S. (2023). Starting university at the time of COVID-19:
 Psychoemotional adjustment of a group of Italian students. *Journal of Adult Development*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10804-023-09444-9
- Buysse, D. J., Reynolds, C. F., Monk, T. H., Berman, S. R., & Kupfer, D. J. (1989). The Pittsburgh sleep quality index: A new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. *Psychiatry Research*, 28(2), 193–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-1781(89)90047-4
- Canadian Alliance of Student Associations. (2022). *The new abnormal. Student mental health two years into COVID-19.*
 - https://assets.nationbuilder.com/casaacae/pages/3470/attachments/original/1664377984/A bacus_Report_2022_%281%29.pdf?1664377984
- Canadian Institute for Health Information. (2022). *Canadian covid-19 intervention timeline*. https://www.cihi.ca/en/canadian-covid-19-intervention-timeline
- Carballo-Fazanes, A., Rico-Díaz, J., Barcala-Furelos, R., Rey, E., Rodríguez-Fernández, J. E., Varela-Casal, C., & Abelairas-Gómez, C. (2020). Physical activity habits and determinants, sedentary behaviour and lifestyle in university students. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(9), Article 9. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17093272
- Caso, D., Carfora, V., Capasso, M., Oliano, D., & Conner, M. (2021). Using messages targeting psychological versus physical health benefits to promote walking behaviour: A randomised controlled trial. *Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being*, 13(1), 152–173. https://doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12224

- Caspersen, C. J., Powell, K. E., & Christenson, G. M. (1985). Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: Definitions and distinctions for health-related research. *Public Health Reports*, 100(2), 126–131.
- Castro, O., Bennie, J., Vergeer, I., Bosselut, G., & Biddle, S. J. H. (2018). Correlates of sedentary behaviour in university students: A systematic review. *Preventive Medicine*, 116, 194–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2018.09.016
- Castro, O., Bennie, J., Vergeer, I., Bosselut, G., & Biddle, S. J. H. (2020). How sedentary are university students? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Prevention Science*, 21(3), 332–343. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-020-01093-8
- Chaput, J.-P., Dutil, C., Featherstone, R., Ross, R., Giangregorio, L., Saunders, T. J., Janssen, I., Poitras, V. J., Kho, M. E., Ross-White, A., & Carrier, J. (2020). Sleep duration and health in adults: An overview of systematic reviews. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism*, 45(10 (Suppl. 2)), S218–S231. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2020-0034
- Chaput, J.-P., Dutil, C., Featherstone, R., Ross, R., Giangregorio, L., Saunders, T. J., Janssen, I., Poitras, V. J., Kho, M. E., Ross-White, A., Zankar, S., & Carrier, J. (2020). Sleep timing, sleep consistency, and health in adults: A systematic review. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism*, 45(10 (Suppl. 2)), S232–S247. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2020-0032
- Chaput, J.-P., Saunders, T. J., & Carson, V. (2017). Interactions between sleep, movement and other non-movement behaviours in the pathogenesis of childhood obesity. *Obesity Reviews*, 18(S1), 7–14. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12508
- Chastin, S. F. M., Craemer, M. D., Cocker, K. D., Powell, L., Cauwenberg, J. V., Dall, P., Hamer, M., & Stamatakis, E. (2019). How does light-intensity physical activity associate

with adult cardiometabolic health and mortality? Systematic review with meta-analysis of experimental and observational studies. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *53*(6), 370–376. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2017-097563

- Chastin, S. F. M., Palarea-Albaladejo, J., Dontje, M. L., & Skelton, D. A. (2015). Combined effects of time spent in physical activity, sedentary behaviors and sleep on obesity and cardio-metabolic health markers: A novel compositional data analysis approach. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(10), Article e0139984. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0139984
- Clemente, F. M., Nikolaidis, P. T., Martins, F. M. L., & Mendes, R. S. (2016). Physical activity patterns in university students: Do they follow the public health guidelines? *PLOS ONE*, *11*(3), Article e0152516. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0152516
- Colley, R. C., & Watt, J. (2022). The unequal impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the physical activity habits of Canadians. *Health Reports*, *33*(5), 22–33. https://doi.org/10.25318/82-003-x202200500003-eng
- Compas, B. E., Wagner, B. M., Slavin, L. A., & Vannatta, K. (1986). A prospective study of life events, social support, and psychological symptomatology during the transition from high school to college. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 14(3), 241–257. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00911173
- Craig, C. L., Marshall, A. L., Sjöström, M., Bauman, A. E., Booth, M. L., Ainsworth, B. E.,
 Pratt, M., Ekelund, U., Yngve, A., Sallis, J. F., & Oja, P. (2003). International physical activity questionnaire: 12-country reliability and validity. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 35(8), 1381–1395. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.MSS.0000078924.61453.FB
- Crawford, J., Butler-Henderson, K., Rudolph, J., Malkawi, B., Glowatz, M., Burton, R., Magni, P. A., & Lam, S. (2020). COVID-19: 20 countries' higher education intra-period digital

pedagogy responses. *Journal of Applied Learning and Teaching*, *3*(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.37074/jalt.2020.3.1.7

- Deliens, T., Deforche, B., De Bourdeaudhuij, I., & Clarys, P. (2015). Determinants of physical activity and sedentary behaviour in university students: A qualitative study using focus group discussions. *BMC Public Health*, 15(1), Article 201. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-015-1553-4
- Detsky, A. S., & Bogoch, I. I. (2020). COVID-19 in Canada: Experience and response. *JAMA*, *324*(8), 743–744. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.14033
- Deyo, A., Wallace, J., & Kidwell, K. M. (2023). Screen time and mental health in college students: Time in nature as a protective factor. *Journal of American College Health*.
 Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2022.2151843
- Dodd, L. J., Al-Nakeeb, Y., Nevill, A., & Forshaw, M. J. (2010). Lifestyle risk factors of students: A cluster analytical approach. *Preventive Medicine*, 51(1), 73–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2010.04.005
- Dollman, J., Pontt, J. L., & Rowlands, A. V. (2016). Validity of self-reported sedentary time differs between Australian rural men engaged in office and farming occupations. *Journal* of Sports Sciences, 34(12), 1154–1158. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2015.1094185
- Draper, C. E., Tomaz, S. A., Biersteker, L., Cook, C. J., Couper, J., Milander, M. de, Flynn, K., Giese, S., Krog, S., Lambert, E. V., Liebenberg, T., Mendoza, C., Nunes, T., Pienaar, A., Priorieschi, A., Rae, D. E., Rahbeeni, N., Reilly, J. J., Reynolds, L., ... Okely, A. D. (2020). The South African 24-hour movement guidelines for birth to 5 years: An integration of physical activity, sitting behavior, screen time, and sleep. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, *17*(1), 109–119. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2019-0187

- Duncan, S. C., Duncan, T. E., & Strycker, L. A. (2005). Sources and types of social support in youth physical activity. *Health Psychology*, 24, 3–10. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.24.1.3
- Durand-Bush, N., McNeill, K., Harding, M., & Dobransky, J. (2015). Investigating stress, psychological well-being, mental health functioning, and self-regulation capacity among university undergraduate students: Is this population optimally functioning? *Canadian Journal of Counselling and Psychotherapy*, 49(3), Article 3. https://cjcrcc.ucalgary.ca/article/view/61066
- Dziewior, J., Carr, L. J., Pierce, G. L., & Whitaker, K. (2022). College students report less physical activity and more sedentary behavior during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal* of American College Health. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2022.2100708
- Ekelund, U., Tarp, J., Steene-Johannessen, J., Hansen, B. H., Jefferis, B., Fagerland, M. W.,
 Whincup, P., Diaz, K. M., Hooker, S. P., Chernofsky, A., Larson, M. G., Spartano, N.,
 Vasan, R. S., Dohrn, I.-M., Hagströmer, M., Edwardson, C., Yates, T., Shiroma, E.,
 Anderssen, S. A., & Lee, I.-M. (2019). Dose-response associations between
 accelerometry measured physical activity and sedentary time and all cause mortality:
 Systematic review and harmonised meta-analysis. *BMJ*, *366*(8211), Article 14570.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.14570
- Elmer, T., Mepham, K., & Stadtfeld, C. (2020). Students under lockdown: Comparisons of students' social networks and mental health before and during the COVID-19 crisis in Switzerland. *PLOS ONE*, *15*(7), Article e0236337. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0236337

Ermis-Demirtas, H., Watson, J. C., Karaman, M. A., Freeman, P., Kumaran, A., Haktanir, A., & Streeter, A. M. (2018). Psychometric properties of the multidimensional scale of perceived social support within hispanic college students. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 40(4), 472–485. https://doi.org/10.1177/0739986318790733

Fagaras, S.-P., Radu, L.-E., & Vanvu, G. (2015). The level of physical activity of university students. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 197, 1454–1457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.07.094

- Farren, G. L., Zhang, T., Martin, S. B., & Thomas, K. T. (2017). Factors related to meeting physical activity guidelines in active college students: A social cognitive perspective. *Journal of American College Health*, 65(1), 10–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2016.1229320
- Faught, E., Walters, A. J., Latimer-Cheung, A. E., Faulkner, G., Jones, R., Duggan, M., Chulak-Bozzer, T., Lane, K. N., Brouwers, M. C., & Tomasone, J. R. (2020). Optimal messaging of the Canadian 24-hour movement guidelines for adults aged 18–64 years and adults aged 65 years and older. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, 45*(10 (Suppl. 2)), S125–S150. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2020-0494
- Felez-Nobrega, M., Hillman, C. H., Dowd, K. P., Cirera, E., & Puig-Ribera, A. (2018).
 ActivPALTM determined sedentary behaviour, physical activity and academic achievement in college students. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, *36*(20), 2311–2316.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2018.1451212
- Flood, S. M., Thompson, B., Faulkner, G., Vanderloo, L. M., Blackett, B., Dolf, M., Latimer-Cheung, A. E., Duggan, M., Di Sebastiano, K. M., Lane, K. N., Brouwers, M. C., McKenna, J., Chulak-Bozzer, T., Fuller, D., Ruissen, G. R., Sturrock, S. L., & Tomasone,

J. R. (2023). Development of a ParticipACTION app–based intervention for improving postsecondary students' 24-hour movement guideline behaviors: Protocol for the application of intervention mapping. *JMIR Research Protocols*, *12*, Article e39977. https://doi.org/10.2196/39977

- Fox, K. (1999). The influence of physical activity on mental well-being. *Public Health Nutrition*, 2, 411–418. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980099000567
- Frederick, G. M., Wilson, O. W. A., & Peterson, K. T. (2023). Associations between meeting 24hour movement guidelines and perceived stress and depressive symptoms among college students: Differences by gender, race, and sexual orientation. *International Journal of Kinesiology in Higher Education*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/24711616.2023.2172489
- Galambos, N. L., Vargas Lascano, D. I., Howard, A. L., & Maggs, J. L. (2013). Who sleeps best? Longitudinal patterns and covariates of change in sleep quantity, quality, and timing across four university years. *Behavioral Sleep Medicine*, 11(1), 8–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/15402002.2011.596234
- Gall, T. L., Evans, D. R., & Bellerose, S. (2000). Transition to first-year university: Patterns of change in adjustment across life domains and time. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 19(4), 544–567. https://doi.org/10.1521/jscp.2000.19.4.544
- Gaultney, J. F. (2010). The prevalence of sleep disorders in college students: Impact on academic performance. *Journal of American College Health*, 59(2), 91–97. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2010.483708
- Gestsdottir, S., Gisladottir, T., Stefansdottir, R., Johannsson, E., Jakobsdottir, G., & Rognvaldsdottir, V. (2021). Health and well-being of university students before and

during COVID-19 pandemic: A gender comparison. *PLoS ONE*, *16*(12), Article e0261346. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0261346

- Giouridis, N. (2020). Exploring first-year university students' barriers and facilitators to meeting the recommendations of the Canadian 24-hour movement guidelines for adults (Publication No. 28387868) [Master's thesis, Queen's University]. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- Godin, G., & Shephard, R. J. (1985). A simple method to assess exercise behavior in the community. *Canadian Journal of Applied Sport Sciences*, *10*(3), 141–146.
- Graham, I. D., Logan, J., Harrison, M. B., Straus, S. E., Tetroe, J., Caswell, W., & Robinson, N. (2006). Lost in knowledge translation: Time for a map? *Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions*, 26(1), 13–24. https://doi.org/10.1002/chp.47
- Guerrero, M. D., Vanderloo, L. M., Rhodes, R. E., Faulkner, G., Moore, S. A., & Tremblay, M. S. (2020). Canadian children's and youth's adherence to the 24-h movement guidelines during the COVID-19 pandemic: A decision tree analysis. *Journal of Sport and Health Science*, 9(4), 313–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jshs.2020.06.005
- Guilford, J. P. (1942). Fundamental statistics in psychology and education (p. 333). McGraw-Hill.
- Haskell, W. L. (2012). Physical activity by self-report: A brief history and future issues. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 9(s1), S5–S10. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.9.s1.s5
- Heaney, C. A., & Israel, B. A. (2008). Social networks and social support. In K. Glanz, B. K.
 Rimer, & K. Viswanath (Eds.), *Health Behaviour and Health Education: Theory, Research, and Practice* (4th ed.). Jossey-Bass.

- Hegberg, N. J., & Tone, E. B. (2015). Physical activity and stress resilience: Considering those at-risk for developing mental health problems. *Mental Health and Physical Activity*, 8, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhpa.2014.10.001
- Hollman, H., Updegraff, J. A., Lipkus, I. M., & Rhodes, R. E. (2022). Perceptions of physical activity and sedentary behaviour guidelines among end-users and stakeholders: A systematic review. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 19(1), Article 21. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-022-01245-9
- Holt, M., Monk, R., Powell, S., & Dooris, M. (2015). Student perceptions of a healthy university. *Public Health*, 129(6), 674–683. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2015.03.020
- Holt, M., & Powell, S. (2017). Healthy universities: A guiding framework for universities to examine the distinctive health needs of its own student population. *Perspectives in Public Health*, 137(1), 53–58. https://doi.org/10.1177/1757913916659095
- Hosteng, K. R., Reichter, A. P., Simmering, J. E., & Carr, L. J. (2019). Uninterrupted classroom sitting is associated with increased discomfort and sleepiness among college students. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *16*(14), Article E2498. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16142498
- House, J. S. (1981). Work stress and social support. Addison-Wesley Publishing Company.
- House, J. S., & Kahn, R. (1985). Measures and concepts of social support. In S. Cohen & S. L. Syme (Eds.), *Social support and health* (pp. 83–108). Academic Press.
- Huber, B. C., Steffen, J., Schlichtiger, J., Graupe, T., Deuster, E., Strouvelle, V. P., Fischer, M.
 R., Massberg, S., & Brunner, S. (2020). Alteration of physical activity during COVID-19
 pandemic lockdown in young adults. *Journal of Translational Medicine*, *18*(1), Article
 410. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-020-02591-7

- Huesman, R., Brown, A. K., Lee, G., Kellogg, J. P., & Radcliffe, P. M. (2009). Gym bags and mortarboards: Is use of campus recreation facilities related to student success? *NASPA Journal*, 46(1), 50–71. https://doi.org/10.2202/1949-6605.5005
- Hyun, S., Hahm, H. C., Wong, G. T. F., Zhang, E., & Liu, C. H. (2021). Psychological correlates of poor sleep quality among U.S. young adults during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Sleep Medicine*, 78, 51–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2020.12.009
- International Conference on Health Promoting Universities and Colleges. (2015). Okanagan charter: An international charter for health promoting universities & colleges. https://wellbeing.ubc.ca/okanagan-charter
- Irwin, J. D. (2007). The prevalence of physical activity maintenance in a sample of university students: A longitudinal study. *Journal of American College Health*, 56(1), 37–42. https://doi.org/10.3200/JACH.56.1.37-42
- Janssen, I., Clarke, A. E., Carson, V., Chaput, J.-P., Giangregorio, L. M., Kho, M. E., Poitras, V. J., Ross, R., Saunders, T. J., Ross-White, A., & Chastin, S. F. M. (2020). A systematic review of compositional data analysis studies examining associations between sleep, sedentary behaviour, and physical activity with health outcomes in adults. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, 45*(10 (Suppl. 2)), S248–S257. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2020-0160
- Jiang, M., Zhao, Y., Wang, J., Hua, L., Chen, Y., Yao, Y., & Jin, Y. (2022). Serial multiple mediation of the correlation between internet addiction and depression by social support and sleep quality of college students during the COVID-19 epidemic. *Psychiatry Investigation*, 19(1), 9–15. https://doi.org/10.30773/pi.2021.0147

- Kang, H. (2013). The prevention and handling of the missing data. *Korean Journal of Anesthesiology*, *64*(5), 402–406. https://doi.org/10.4097/kjae.2013.64.5.402
- Kassavou, A., Turner, A., & French, D. P. (2013). Do interventions to promote walking in groups increase physical activity? A meta-analysis. *The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *10*, Article 18. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-10-18
- Keating, X. D., Guan, J., Piñero, J. C., & Bridges, D. M. (2005). A meta-analysis of college students' physical activity behaviors. *Journal of American College Health*, 54(2), 116– 126. https://doi.org/10.3200/JACH.54.2.116-126
- Kelly, P., Murphy, M., & Mutrie, N. (2017). The health benefits of walking. In *Walking* (Vol. 9, pp. 61–79). Emerald Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1108/S2044-994120170000009004
- Kent de Grey, R. G., Uchino, B. N., Trettevik, R., Cronan, S., & Hogan, J. N. (2018). Social support and sleep: A meta-analysis. *Health Psychology*, 37(8), 787–798. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000628
- Kjønniksen, L., Torsheim, T., & Wold, B. (2008). Tracking of leisure-time physical activity during adolescence and young adulthood: A 10-year longitudinal study. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 5(1), Article 69. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-5-69
- Kowalsky, R. J., Farney, T. M., Kline, C. E., Hinojosa, J. N., & Creasy, S. A. (2021). The impact of the covid-19 pandemic on lifestyle behaviors in U.S. college students. *Journal of American College Health*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2021.1923505

Krause, N., & Rainville, G. (2020). Exploring the relationship between social support and sleep. *Health Education & Behavior*, 47(1), 153–161. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198119871331

- Kwan, M. Y., Cairney, J., Faulkner, G. E., & Pullenayegum, E. E. (2012). Physical activity and other health-risk behaviors during the transition into early adulthood: A longitudinal cohort study. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 42(1), 14–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2011.08.026
- Laird, Y., Fawkner, S., Kelly, P., McNamee, L., & Niven, A. (2016). The role of social support on physical activity behaviour in adolescent girls: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *13*(1), Article 79. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-016-0405-7
- Lancaster, M., & Arango, E. (2021). Health and emotional well-being of urban university students in the era of COVID-19. *Traumatology*, 27(1), 107–117. https://doi.org/10.1037/trm0000308
- Larouche, R., Laurencelle, L., Shephard, R. J., & Trudeau, F. (2012). Life transitions in the waning of physical activity from childhood to adult life in the Trois-Rivières study. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 9(4), 516–524. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.9.4.516

Lavados-Romo, M., Pamela, Andrade-Mayorga, M., Omar, Morales, P., Gladys, Muñoz, P., Sergio, & Balboa-Castillo, P., Teresa. (2021). Association of screen time and physical activity with health-related quality of life in college students. *Journal of American College Health*. Advance online publication.

https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2021.1942006

- Lee, I. M., Shiroma, E. J., Lobelo, F., Puska, P., Blair, S. N., Katzmarzyk, P. T., & Lancet Physical Activity Series Working Group. (2012). Effect of physical inactivity on major non-communicable diseases worldwide: An analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy. *Lancet (London, England)*, 380(9838), 219–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61031-9
- Lee, S., Kang, H., & Shin, G. (2015). Head flexion angle while using a smartphone. *Ergonomics*, 58(2), 220–226. https://doi.org/10.1080/00140139.2014.967311
- Leslie, E., Owen, N., Salmon, J., Bauman, A., Sallis, J. F., & Lo, S. K. (1999). Insufficiently active Australian college students: Perceived personal, social, and environmental influences. *Preventive Medicine*, 28(1), 20–27. https://doi.org/10.1006/pmed.1998.0375
- Liang, K., de Lucena Martins, C. M., Chen, S.-T., Clark, C. C. T., Duncan, M. J., Bu, H., Huang, L., & Chi, X. (2021). Sleep as a priority: 24-hour movement guidelines and mental health of Chinese college students during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Healthcare*, 9(9), Article 9. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare9091166
- Linden, B., Boyes, R., & Stuart, H. (2021). Cross-sectional trend analysis of the NCHA II survey data on Canadian post-secondary student mental health and wellbeing from 2013 to 2019. *BMC Public Health*, 21(1), Article 590. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-10622-1
- Little, R. J. A. (1988). A test of missing completely at random for multivariate data with missing values. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 83(404), 1198–1202. https://doi.org/10.1080/01621459.1988.10478722
- Lo, J. C., Groeger, J. A., Cheng, G. H., Dijk, D.-J., & Chee, M. W. L. (2016). Self-reported sleep duration and cognitive performance in older adults: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Sleep Medicine*, 17, 87–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2015.08.021

- Loo, B. K. G., Okely, A. D., Pulungan, A., & Jalaludin, M. Y. (2021). Asia-Pacific consensus statement on integrated 24-hour activity guidelines for children and adolescents. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 56, 539–545. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2021-104527
- López-Valenciano, A., Suárez-Iglesias, D., Sanchez-Lastra, M. A., & Ayán, C. (2021). Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on university students' physical activity levels: An early systematic review. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *11*, Article 624567. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.624567
- Loustalot, F., Carlson, S. A., Kruger, J., Buchner, D. M., & Fulton, J. E. (2013). Musclestrengthening activities and participation among adults in the United States. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 84(1), 30–38. https://doi.org/10.1080/02701367.2013.762289
- Luchene, P. V., & Delens, C. (2021). The influence of social support specific to physical activity on physical activity among college and university students: A systematic review. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, *18*(6), 737–747. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2020-0713
- Luciano, F., Cenacchi, V., Vegro, V., & Pavei, G. (2021). COVID-19 lockdown: Physical activity, sedentary behaviour and sleep in Italian medicine students. *European Journal of Sport Science*, 21(10), 1459–1468. https://doi.org/10.1080/17461391.2020.1842910
- Lund, H. G., Reider, B. D., Whiting, A. B., & Prichard, J. R. (2010). Sleep patterns and predictors of disturbed sleep in a large population of college students. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 46(2), 124–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2009.06.016
- Lynch, J., O'Donoghue, G., & Peiris, C. L. (2022). Classroom movement breaks and physically active learning are feasible, reduce sedentary behaviour and fatigue, and may increase focus in university students: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *International*

Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 19(13), Article 7775. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19137775

- Marmo, J. (2013). Applying social cognitive theory to develop targeted messages: College students and physical activity. Western Journal of Communication, 77(4), 444–465. https://doi.org/10.1080/10570314.2012.681101
- McGregor, D. E., Carson, V., Palarea-Albaladejo, J., Dall, P. M., Tremblay, M. S., & Chastin, S.
 F. M. (2018). Compositional analysis of the associations between 24-h movement behaviours and health indicators among adults and older adults from the Canadian health measure survey. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *15*(8), Article 8. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15081779
- McKay, L., O'Bryan, S., & Kahu, E. R. (2021). "My uni experience wasn't completely ruined": The impacts of COVID-19 on the first-year experience. *Student Success*, 12(2), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.5204/ssj.1762
- Moulin, M. S., & Irwin, J. D. (2017). An assessment of sedentary time among undergraduate students at a Canadian university. *International Journal of Exercise Science*, 10(8), 1116–1129.
- Moulin, M. S., Truelove, S., Burke, S. M., & Irwin, J. D. (2021). Sedentary time among undergraduate students: A systematic review. *Journal of American College Health*, 69(3), 237–244. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2019.1661422
- Murphy, J. J., Murphy, M. H., MacDonncha, C., Murphy, N., Nevill, A. M., & Woods, C. B.
 (2017). Validity and Reliability of Three Self-Report Instruments for Assessing
 Attainment of Physical Activity Guidelines in University Students. *Measurement in*

Physical Education and Exercise Science, *21*(3), 134–141. https://doi.org/10.1080/1091367X.2017.1297711

- Nash, S., & Mitra, R. (2019). University students' transportation patterns, and the role of neighbourhood types and attitudes. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 76, 200–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2019.03.013
- Nelson, M. C., Story, M., Larson, N. I., Neumark-Sztainer, D., & Lytle, L. A. (2008). Emerging adulthood and college-aged youth: An overlooked age for weight-related behavior change. *Obesity*, 16(10), 2205–2211. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2008.365
- Nguyen-Michel, S. T., Unger, J. B., Hamilton, J., & Spruijt-Metz, D. (2006). Associations between physical activity and perceived stress/hassles in college students. *Stress and Health*, 22(3), 179–188. https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.1094
- Nieminen, T., Prättälä, R., Martelin, T., Härkänen, T., Hyyppä, M. T., Alanen, E., & Koskinen,
 S. (2013). Social capital, health behaviours and health: A population-based associational study. *BMC Public Health*, *13*(1), Article 613. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-613
- Noar, S. M., Chabot, M., & Zimmerman, R. S. (2008). Applying health behavior theory to multiple behavior change: Considerations and approaches. *Preventive Medicine*, 46(3), 275–280. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2007.08.001
- Ohayon, M., Wickwire, E. M., Hirshkowitz, M., Albert, S. M., Avidan, A., Daly, F. J.,
 Dauvilliers, Y., Ferri, R., Fung, C., Gozal, D., Hazen, N., Krystal, A., Lichstein, K.,
 Mallampalli, M., Plazzi, G., Rawding, R., Scheer, F. A., Somers, V., & Vitiello, M. V.
 (2017). National sleep foundation's sleep quality recommendations: First report. *Sleep Health*, *3*(1), 6–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleh.2016.11.006

- Okely, A. D., Ghersi, D., Loughran, S. P., Cliff, D. P., Shilton, T., Jones, R. A., Stanley, R. M., Sherring, J., Toms, N., Eckermann, S., Olds, T. S., Zhang, Z., Parrish, A.-M., Kervin, L., Downie, S., Salmon, J., Bannerman, C., Needham, T., Marshall, E., ... Tremblay, M. S. (2022). A collaborative approach to adopting/adapting guidelines. The Australian 24-hour movement guidelines for children (5-12 years) and young people (13-17 years): An integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *19*(1), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-021-01236-2
- Ontario Universities. (2022). *Table 1: Summary of enrolments in Ontario universities, 2012-13 to 2021-22*. https://ontariosuniversities.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Table-1-Summary-of-Enrolments-1.pdf
- Orzech, K. M., Salafsky, D. B., & Hamilton, L. A. (2011). The state of sleep among college students at a large public university. *Journal of American College Health*, 59(7), 612–619. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2010.520051
- Palma-Leal, X., Rodríguez-Rodríguez, F., Campos-Garzón, P., Castillo-Paredes, A., & Chillón,
 P. (2021). New self-report measures of commuting behaviors to university and their association with sociodemographic characteristics. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(23), Article 12557.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph182312557
- Park, J. H., Moon, J. H., Kim, H. J., Kong, M. H., & Oh, Y. H. (2020). Sedentary lifestyle:
 Overview of updated evidence of potential health risks. *Korean Journal of Family Medicine*, 41(6), 365–373. https://doi.org/10.4082/kjfm.20.0165

ParticipACTION. (2021). Participaction report card on physical activity for adults. https://www.participaction.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/2021-ParticipACTION-Report-Card-on-Physical-Activity-for-Adults.pdf

- Patterson, Z. R., Gabrys, R. L., Prowse, R. K., Abizaid, A. B., Hellemans, K. G. C., & McQuaid,
 R. J. (2021). The influence of COVID-19 on stress, substance use, and mental health
 among postsecondary students. *Emerging Adulthood*, 9(5), 516–530.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/21676968211014080
- Pedišić, Ž. (2014). Measurement issues and poor adjustments for physical activity and sleep undermine sedentary behaviour research—The focus should shift to the balance between sleep, sedentary behaviour, standing and activity. *Kinesiology*, *46*(1), 135–146.
- Peiris, C. L., O'Donoghue, G., Rippon, L., Meyers, D., Hahne, A., De Noronha, M., Lynch, J., & Hanson, L. C. (2021). Classroom movement breaks reduce sedentary behavior and increase concentration, alertness and enjoyment during university classes: A mixed-methods feasibility study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(11), 5589. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18115589
- Peterson, N. E., Sirard, J. R., Kulbok, P. A., DeBoer, M. D., & Erickson, J. M. (2018). Sedentary behavior and physical activity of young adult university students. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 41(1), 30–38. https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.21845
- Plotnikoff, R. C., Costigan, S. A., Williams, R. L., Hutchesson, M. J., Kennedy, S. G., Robards, S. L., Allen, J., Collins, C. E., Callister, R., & Germov, J. (2015). Effectiveness of interventions targeting physical activity, nutrition and healthy weight for university and college students: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *The International Journal of*

Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, *12*(1), Article 45. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-015-0203-7

- Prapavessis, H., Gaston, A., & DeJesus, S. (2015). The theory of planned behavior as a model for understanding sedentary behavior. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 19, 23–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2015.02.001
- Prince, S. A., LeBlanc, A. G., Colley, R. C., & Saunders, T. J. (2017). Measurement of sedentary behaviour in population health surveys: A review and recommendations. *PeerJ*, 5, Article e4130. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.4130
- Prochaska, J. J., Spring, B., & Nigg, C. R. (2008). Multiple health behavior change research: An introduction and overview. *Preventive Medicine*, 46(3), 181–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2008.02.001
- Prochaska, J. O., & DiClemente, C. C. (1983). Stages and processes of self-change of smoking: Toward an integrative model of change. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *51*(3), 390–395. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.51.3.390
- Pugliese, J. A., & Okun, M. A. (2014). Social control and strenuous exercise among late adolescent college students: Parents versus peers as influence agents. *Journal of Adolescence*, 37(5), 543–554. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2014.04.008
- Quick, V., Byrd-Bredbenner, C., Shoff, S., White, A. A., Lohse, B., Horacek, T., Colby, S., Brown, O., Kidd, T., & Greene, G. (2016). Relationships of sleep duration with weightrelated behaviors of U.S. college students. *Behavioral Sleep Medicine*, 14(5), 565–580. https://doi.org/10.1080/15402002.2015.1065411
- Rees-Punia, E., Newton, C. C., Rittase, M. H., Hodge, R. A., Nielsen, J., Cunningham, S., Teras,L. R., & Patel, A. (2021). Prospective changes in physical activity, sedentary time and

sleep during the COVID-19 pandemic in a US-based cohort study. *BMJ Open*, *11*(12), Article e053817. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2021-053817

- Rice, K. R., Fuller, J. S., Dutto, D. J., Schuna, J. M., & Behrens, T. K. (2019). A comparison of physical activity levels between on-line and campus university students. *International Journal of Sports and Exercise Medicine*, 5(9). https://doi.org/10.23937/2469-5718/1510141
- Rollo, S., Antsygina, O., & Tremblay, M. S. (2020). The whole day matters: Understanding 24hour movement guideline adherence and relationships with health indicators across the lifespan. *Journal of Sport and Health Science*, 9(6), 493–510. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jshs.2020.07.004
- Romero-Blanco, C., Rodríguez-Almagro, J., Onieva-Zafra, M. D., Parra-Fernández, M. L.,
 Prado-Laguna, M. del C., & Hernández-Martínez, A. (2020). Physical activity and
 sedentary lifestyle in university students: Changes during confinement due to the covid19 pandemic. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(18), Article 6567. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17186567
- Ross, R., Chaput, J.-P., Giangregorio, L. M., Janssen, I., Saunders, T. J., Kho, M. E., Poitras, V. J., Tomasone, J. R., El-Kotob, R., McLaughlin, E. C., Duggan, M., Carrier, J., Carson, V., Chastin, S. F., Latimer-Cheung, A. E., Chulak-Bozzer, T., Faulkner, G., Flood, S. M., Gazendam, M. K., ... Tremblay, M. S. (2020). Canadian 24-hour movement guidelines for adults aged 18–64 years and Adults aged 65 years or older: An integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism,* 45(10 (Suppl. 2)), S57–S102. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2020-0467

- Rovniak, L. S., Anderson, E. S., Winett, R. A., & Stephens, R. S. (2002). Social cognitive determinants of physical activity in young adults: A prospective structural equation analysis. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 24(2), 149–156. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15324796ABM2402_12
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2017). Self-determination theory: Basic psychological needs in motivation, development, and wellness. Guilford Publications.
- Sampasa-Kanyinga, H., Hamilton, H. A., & Chaput, J.-P. (2018). Use of social media is associated with short sleep duration in a dose–response manner in students aged 11 to 20 years. *Acta Paediatrica*, 107(4), 694–700. https://doi.org/10.1111/apa.14210
- San Román-Mata, S., Puertas-Molero, P., Ubago-Jiménez, J. L., & González-Valero, G. (2020). Benefits of physical activity and its associations with resilience, emotional intelligence, and psychological distress in university students from southern Spain. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(12), Article E4474. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17124474
- Saunders, T. J., McIsaac, T., Douillette, K., Gaulton, N., Hunter, S., Rhodes, R. E., Prince, S. A., Carson, V., Chaput, J.-P., Chastin, S., Giangregorio, L., Janssen, I., Katzmarzyk, P. T., Kho, M. E., Poitras, V. J., Powell, K. E., Ross, R., Ross-White, A., Tremblay, M. S., & Healy, G. N. (2020). Sedentary behaviour and health in adults: An overview of systematic reviews. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, 45*(10 (Suppl. 2)), S197–S217. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2020-0272
- Savage, M. J., Hennis, P. J., Magistro, D., Donaldson, J., Healy, L. C., & James, R. M. (2021). Nine months into the COVID-19 pandemic: A longitudinal study showing mental health and movement behaviours are impaired in UK students. *International Journal of*
Environmental Research and Public Health, *18*(6), Article 2930. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18062930

- Scheers, T., Philippaerts, R., & Lefevre, J. (2013). Compliance with different physical activity recommendations and its association with socio-demographic characteristics using an objective measure. *BMC Public Health*, *13*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-136
- Schwarzer, R. (1992). Self-efficacy in the adoption and maintenance of health behaviors:
 Theoretical approaches and a new model. In *Self-efficacy: Thought control of action* (pp. 217–243). Hemisphere Publishing Corp.
- Sedentary Behaviour Research Network. (2012). Letter to the editor: Standardized use of the terms "sedentary" and "sedentary behaviours." *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism*, 37(3), 540–542. https://doi.org/10.1139/h2012-024
- Shakespear-Druery, J., De Cocker, K., Biddle, S. J. H., & Bennie, J. (2022a). Musclestrengthening exercise questionnaire (MSEQ): An assessment of concurrent validity and test–retest reliability. *BMJ Open Sport & Exercise Medicine*, 8(1), Article e001225. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjsem-2021-001225
- Shan, Z., Ma, H., Xie, M., Yan, P., Guo, Y., Bao, W., Rong, Y., Jackson, C. L., Hu, F. B., & Liu, L. (2015). Sleep duration and risk of type 2 diabetes: A meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Diabetes Care*, 38(3), 529–537. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc14-2073
- Shannon, S., Carlin, A., Woods, C., Nevill, A. M., Murphy, N., & Murphy, M. H. (2022). Adherence to aerobic and muscle-strengthening components of the physical activity guidelines and mental health. *Health Promotion International*, *37*(5), Article daac083. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/daac083

Sharma, S. K., Mudgal, S. K., Thakur, K., & Gaur, R. (2020). How to calculate sample size for observational and experimental nursing research studies? *National Journal of Physiology*, *Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, *10*(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.5455/njppp.2020.10.0930717102019

Silva, R. M. F., Mendonça, C. R., Azevedo, V. D., Memon, A. R., Noll, P. R. E. S., & Noll, M. (2022). Barriers to high school and university students' physical activity: A systematic review. *PLOS ONE*, *17*(4), Article e0265913. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0265913

- Smetaniuk, T., Johnson, D., Creurer, J., Block, K., Schlegel, M., Butcher, S., & Oosman, S. N. (2017). Physical activity and sedentary behaviour of master of physical therapy students:
 An exploratory study of facilitators and barriers. *Physiotherapy Canada*, 69(3), 260–270. https://doi.org/10.3138/ptc.2015-76EP
- Sothern, M. S., Loftin, M., Suskind, R. M., Udall, J. N., & Blecker, U. (1999). The health benefits of physical activity in children and adolescents: Implications for chronic disease prevention. *European Journal of Pediatrics*, 158(4), 271–274. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004310051070
- Sparling, P. B., Owen, N., Lambert, E. V., & Haskell, W. L. (2000). Promoting physical activity: The new imperative for public health. *Health Education Research*, 15(3), 367–376. https://doi.org/10.1093/her/15.3.367

Sparling, P. B., & Snow, T. K. (2002). Physical activity patterns in recent college alumni. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 73(2), 200–205. https://doi.org/10.1080/02701367.2002.10609009

- Squires, V., & London, C. (2021). The Okanagan charter: Evolution of health promotion in Canadian higher education. *Canadian Journal of Higher Education / Revue Canadienne* d'enseignement Supérieur, 51(3), 100–114. https://doi.org/10.47678/cjhe.vi0.189109
- Statistics Canada. (2020). Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on postsecondary students. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/dailyquotidien/200512/dq200512a-eng.htm
- Statistics Canada. (2023). Persistence and graduation of undergraduate degree students, within Canada, by student characteristics.

https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=3710013603

- Statistics Canada, S. C. (2021, November 24). Table 37-10-0087-01. Postsecondary graduates, by credential type, age group, program type and gender. https://doi.org/10.25318/3710008701-eng
- Suherman, A., Sultoni, K., & Zaky, M. (2021). Physical activity and sedentary behavior in university student during online learning: The effect of COVID-19 pandemic. *Malaysian Journal of Medicine and Health Sciences*, 17, 95–99.
- Sweet, S. N., & Fortier, M. S. (2010). Improving physical activity and dietary behaviours with single or multiple health behaviour interventions? A synthesis of meta-analyses and reviews. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 7(4), 1720–1743. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph7041720
- Taliaferro, L. A., Rienzo, B. A., Pigg, R. M., Miller, M. D., & Dodd, V. J. (2009). Associations between physical activity and reduced rates of hopelessness, depression, and suicidal behavior among college students. *Journal of American College Health*, 57(4), 427–436. https://doi.org/10.3200/JACH.57.4.427-436

- Tay, L., Tan, K., Diener, E., & Gonzalez, E. (2013). Social relations, health behaviors, and health outcomes: A survey and synthesis. *Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being*, 5(1), 28–78. https://doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12000
- Thomas, A. M., Beaudry, K. M., Gammage, K. L., Klentrou, P., & Josse, A. R. (2019). Physical activity, sport participation, and perceived barriers to engagement in first-year Canadian university students. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 16(6), 437–446. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2018-0198
- Thomée, S., Härenstam, A., & Hagberg, M. (2011). Mobile phone use and stress, sleep disturbances, and symptoms of depression among young adults—A prospective cohort study. *BMC Public Health*, 11, Article 66. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-11-66
- Thorp, A. A., Owen, N., Neuhaus, M., & Dunstan, D. W. (2011). Sedentary behaviors and subsequent health outcomes in adults: A systematic review of longitudinal studies, 1996–2011. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 41(2), 207–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2011.05.004
- Tian, Y., & Shi, Z. (2022). The Relationship between Social Support and Exercise Adherence among Chinese College Students during the COVID-19 Pandemic: The Mediating Effects of Subjective Exercise Experience and Commitment. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *19*(18), Article 11827. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph191811827
- Tomasone, J. R., Flood, S. M., Latimer-Cheung, A. E., Faulkner, G., Duggan, M., Jones, R.,
 Lane, K. N., Bevington, F., Carrier, J., Dolf, M., Doucette, K., Faught, E., Gierc, M.,
 Giouridis, N., Gruber, R., Johnston, N., Kauffeldt, K. D., Kennedy, W., Lorbergs, A., ...
 Brouwers, M. C. (2020). Knowledge translation of the Canadian 24-hour movement

guidelines for adults aged 18–64 years and adults aged 65 years or older: A collaborative movement guideline knowledge translation process. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, 45*(10 (Suppl. 2)), S103–S124. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2020-0601

- Tremblay, M. S., Carson, V., Chaput, J.-P., Connor Gorber, S., Dinh, T., Duggan, M., Faulkner, G., Gray, C. E., Gruber, R., Janson, K., Janssen, I., Katzmarzyk, P. T., Kho, M. E., Latimer-Cheung, A. E., LeBlanc, C., Okely, A. D., Olds, T., Pate, R. R., Phillips, A., ... Zehr, L. (2016). Canadian 24-hour movement guidelines for children and youth: An integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, 41*(6 (Suppl. 3)), S311–S327. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2016-0151
- Tremblay, M. S., Chaput, J.-P., Adamo, K. B., Aubert, S., Barnes, J. D., Choquette, L., Duggan, M., Faulkner, G., Goldfield, G. S., Gray, C. E., Gruber, R., Janson, K., Janssen, I., Janssen, X., Jaramillo Garcia, A., Kuzik, N., LeBlanc, C., MacLean, J., Okely, A. D., ... Carson, V. (2017). Canadian 24-Hour movement guidelines for the early years (0–4 years): An integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep. *BMC Public Health*, *17*(5), Article 874. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4859-6
- Tremblay, M. S., Colley, R. C., Saunders, T. J., Healy, G. N., & Owen, N. (2010). Physiological and health implications of a sedentary lifestyle. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism*, 35(6), 725–740. https://doi.org/10.1139/H10-079
- Trost, S. G., Owen, N., Bauman, A. E., Sallis, J. F., & Brown, W. (2002). Correlates of adults' participation in physical activity: Review and update. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 34(12), 1996–2001. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005768-200212000-00020

- Tyson, P., Wilson, K., Crone, D., Brailsford, R., & Laws, K. (2010). Physical activity and mental health in a student population. *Journal of Mental Health*, 19(6), 492–499. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638230902968308
- Uchino, B. N. (2009). Understanding the links between social support and physical health: A life-span perspective with emphasis on the separability of perceived and received support. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *4*(3), 236–255. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6924.2009.01122.x
- Uddin, R., Burton, N. W., & Khan, A. (2020). Combined effects of physical inactivity and sedentary behaviour on psychological distress among university-based young adults: A one-year prospective study. *Psychiatric Quarterly*, *91*(1), 191–202. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11126-019-09697-2
- University of British Columbia Equity & Inclusion Office. (2020). General guidelines on asking for demographic information.

https://isotl.sites.olt.ubc.ca/files/2020/02/EIOGuidelines_2020.pdf

- Valenzuela, R. L. G., Velasco, R. I. B., & Jorge, M. P. P. C. (2023). Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on sleep of undergraduate students: A systematic literature review. *Stress and Health: Journal of the International Society for the Investigation of Stress*, 39(1), 4–34. https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.3171
- VanKim, N. A., & Nelson, T. F. (2013). Vigorous physical activity, mental health, perceived stress, and socializing among college students. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 28(1), 7–15. https://doi.org/10.4278/ajhp.111101-QUAN-395

- Visser, P. L., & Hirsch, J. K. (2014). Health behaviors among college students: The influence of future time perspective and basic psychological need satisfaction. *Health Psychology and Behavioral Medicine*, 2(1), 88–99. https://doi.org/10.1080/21642850.2013.872992
- Von Ah, D., Ebert, S., Ngamvitroj, A., Park, N., & Kang, D.-H. (2004). Predictors of health behaviours in college students. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 48(5), 463–474. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2004.03229.x
- von Sommoggy, J., Rueter, J., Curbach, J., Helten, J., Tittlbach, S., & Loss, J. (2020). How does the campus environment influence everyday physical activity? A photovoice study among students of two German universities. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 8, Article 561175. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2020.561175
- Wallace, L. S., Buckworth, J., Kirby, T. E., & Sherman, W. M. (2000). Characteristics of exercise behavior among college students: Application of social cognitive theory to predicting stage of change. *Preventive Medicine*, *31*(5), 494–505. https://doi.org/10.1006/pmed.2000.0736
- Wang, D., Li, W., Cui, X., Meng, Y., Zhou, M., Xiao, L., Ma, J., Yi, G., & Chen, W. (2016).
 Sleep duration and risk of coronary heart disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *International Journal of Cardiology*, 219, 231–239.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.06.027
- Wang, F., & Bíró, É. (2021). Determinants of sleep quality in college students: A literature review. *EXPLORE*, 17(2), 170–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.explore.2020.11.003
- Warburton, D. E. R., & Bredin, S. S. D. (2017). Health benefits of physical activity: A systematic review of current systematic reviews. *Current Opinion in Cardiology*, 32(5), 541–556. https://doi.org/10.1097/HCO.000000000000437

- Warburton, D. E. R., Nicol, C. W., & Bredin, S. S. D. (2006). Health benefits of physical activity: The evidence. CMAJ, 174(6), 801–809. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.051351
- Watt, J., & Colley, R. C. (2021). Youth—But not adults—Reported less physical activity during the COVID-19 pandemic. Statistics Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/45-28-0001/2021001/article/00032-eng.pdf?st=nGU7IPpe
- Weatherson, K. A., Joopally, H., Wunderlich, K., Kwan, M. Y. W., Tomasone, J. R., & Faulkner, G. (2021). Post-secondary students' adherence to the Canadian 24-hour movement guidelines for adults: Results from the first deployment of the Canadian campus wellbeing survey (CCWS). *Chronic Diseases and Injuries in Canada*, *41*(6), 173–181. https://doi.org/10.24095/hpcdp.41.6.01
- Williams, S. L., Haskard-Zolnierek, K. B., & Dimatteo, M. R. (2013). Psychosocial predictors of behaviour change. In K. A. Riekert, J. K. Ockene, & L. Pbert, *The Handbook of Health Behavior Change* (4th ed., pp. 69–86). Springer Publishing Company.
- Wilson, O. W. A., Panza, M. J., Evans, M. B., & Bopp, M. (2021). A scoping review on college student physical activity: How do researchers measure activity and examine inequities? *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 18(6), 728–736. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2020-0370
- Wilson, O. W. A., Papalia, Z., Duffey, M., & Bopp, M. (2019). Differences in college students' aerobic physical activity and muscle-strengthening activities based on gender, race, and sexual orientation. *Preventive Medicine Reports*, 16, Article 100984. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2019.100984
- Wong, M. L., Lau, E. Y. Y., Wan, J. H. Y., Cheung, S. F., Hui, C. H., & Mok, D. S. Y. (2013). The interplay between sleep and mood in predicting academic functioning, physical

health and psychological health: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 74(4), 271–277. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2012.08.014

- Wright, K. P., Linton, S. K., Withrow, D., Casiraghi, L., Lanza, S. M., Iglesia, H. de la, Vetter,
 C., & Depner, C. M. (2020). Sleep in university students prior to and during COVID-19
 stay-at-home orders. *Current Biology*, *30*(14), R797–R798.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2020.06.022
- Wu, L., & Sun, D. (2017). Sleep duration and falls: A systemic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 26(3), 293–301. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsr.12505
- Wu, L., Sun, D., & Tan, Y. (2018). A systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of sleep duration and the occurrence of cognitive disorders. *Sleep and Breathing*, 22(3), 805–814. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11325-017-1527-0
- Wu, Y., Van Gerven, P. W. M., de Groot, R. H. M., Eijnde, B. O., Winkens, B., & Savelberg, H. H. C. M. (2023). Effects of breaking up sitting with light-intensity physical activity on cognition and mood in university students. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, *33*(3), 257–266. https://doi.org/10.1111/sms.14277
- Xie, X., Siau, K., & Nah, F. F.-H. (2020). COVID-19 pandemic Online education in the new normal and the next normal. *Journal of Information Technology Case and Application Research*, 22(3), 175–187. https://doi.org/10.1080/15228053.2020.1824884
- Yin, J., Jin, X., Shan, Z., Li, S., Huang, H., Li, P., Peng, X., Peng, Z., Yu, K., Bao, W., Yang,
 W., Chen, X., & Liu, L. (2017). Relationship of sleep duration with all-cause mortality
 and cardiovascular events: A systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of

prospective cohort studies. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 6(9), Article e005947. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.117.005947

- Zheng, C., Huang, W. Y., Sheridan, S., Sit, C. H.-P., Chen, X.-K., & Wong, S. H.-S. (2020). COVID-19 pandemic brings a sedentary lifestyle in young adults: A cross-sectional and longitudinal study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(17), Article 6035. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17176035
- Zimet, G. D., Dahlem, N. W., Zimet, S. G., & Farley, G. K. (1988). The multidimensional scale of perceived social support. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 52(1), 30–41. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327752jpa5201_2

Appendices

Appendix A – Ethics Approval Notice



 Date: 5 July 2022

 To: Dr. Jennifer Irwin

 Project ID: 121144

 Review Reference: 2022-121144-68205

 Study Title: The Prevalence of Ontario Undergraduate University Students Meeting the 24-Hour Movement Guidelines and the Role of Social Support

 Application Type: HSREB Initial Application

 Review Type: Delegated

 Meeting Date / Full Board Reporting Date: 26/Jul/2022

 Date Approval Issued: 05/Jul/2022 13:56

REB Approval Expiry Date: 05/Jul/2023

Dear Dr. Jennifer Irwin

The Western University Health Science Research Ethics Board (HSREB) has reviewed and approved the above mentioned study as described in the WREM application form, as of the HSREB Initial Approval Date noted above. This research study is to be conducted by the investigator noted above. All other required institutional approvals and mandated training must also be obtained prior to the conduct of the study.

Documents Approved:

| Document Name | Document Type | Document Date | Document Version |
|--|---------------------------|------------------|---------------------|
| uMOVE24 - Study Protocol (June 2022) | Protocol | 08/Jun/2022 | 1 |
| uMOVE24 - Recruitment Graphic | Recruitment Materials | 08/Jun/2022 | 1 |
| uMOVE24 - Tiktok | Recruitment Materials | 08/Jun/2022 | 1 |
| uMOVE24 - Social Media & Professor Annoucement Recruitment Messaging - 2022-06-27 | Recruitment Materials | 27/Jun/2022 | 2 |
| uMOVE24 - Mass Email Recruitment | Email Script | 27/Jun/2022 | 2 |
| uMOVE24 - Qualtrics Survey - 2022-06-29 | Online Survey | 29/Jun/2022 | 2 |
| uMOVE24 - Letter of Information - 2022-06-27 | Written Consent/Assent | 27/Jun/2022 | 2 |

Documents Acknowledged:

| Document Name | Document Type | Document Date | Document Version |
|--------------------------------|---------------|---------------|------------------|
| uMOVE24 - Rationale References | References | 08/Jun/2022 | 1 |

No deviations from, or changes to, the protocol or WREM application should be initiated without prior written approval of an appropriate amendment from Western HSREB, except when necessary to eliminate immediate hazard(s) to study participants or when the change(s) involves only administrative or logistical aspects of the trial.

REB members involved in the research project do not participate in the review, discussion or decision.

The Western University HSREB operates in compliance with, and is constituted in accordance with, the requirements of the TriCouncil Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS 2); the International Conference on Harmonisation Good Chinical Practice Consolidated Guideline (ICH GCP); Part C, Division 5 of the Food and Drug Regulations; Part 4 of the Natural Health Products Regulations; Part 3 of the Medical Devices Regulations and the provisions of the Ontario Personal Health Information Protection Act (PHIPA 2004) and its applicable regulations. The HSREB is registered with the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services under the IRB registration number IRB 00000940.

Please do not hesitate to contact us if you have any questions.

Electronically signed by:

Patricia Sargeant, Ethics Officer on behalf of Dr. Roberta Berard, HSREB Vice-Chair, 05/Jul/2022 13:56

Reason: I am approving this document

Note: This correspondence includes an electronic signature (validation and approval via an online system that is compliant with all regulations, See Electronic System Compliance Review)



Appendix C – Mass Email Recruitment Script

Dear Undergraduate Student,

Researchers from the Faculty of Health Sciences at Western University are conducting a study to to investigate full-time Ontario undergraduate university students' movement behaviours and their relationship with social support. To examine this, researchers will be conducting a cross-sectional, observational study and asking Ontario undergraduate students to fill out a short (10-15 minute) survey.

Interested participants who are currently enrolled as a full-time, undergraduate student at an Ontario university and are able to read and write in English are asked to follow the link below for a detailed letter of information about the study.

Link to LOI: https://uwo.eu.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_ekxdJGQNF2c1nn0

Thank you for your time, if you have any questions, please feel free to reach out to either:

Ms. Nia Contini, Co-Investigator Health and Rehabilitation Sciences, Western University

Dr. Jennifer Irwin, Principal Investigator School of Health Studies, Faculty of Health Sciences, Western University

Appendix D – Invitation Email to Course Instructors and Student Groups

Dear [insert professor name/group/organization here],

I hope this message finds you well. My name is [name] and I am a [master's student/research assistant] in Dr. Jennifer Irwin's lab in the Faculty of Health Sciences at Western University. I am a [co-investigator/research assistant] on the uMOVE24 study, which we are conducting to investigate full-time Ontario undergraduate university students' movement behaviours and their relationships with social support. To examine this, researchers will be conducting a cross-sectional, observational study and asking participants to fill out a short (10-15 minute) survey.

We are currently recruiting full-time, undergraduate students at any Ontario university. We are hoping that you might be willing to share our recruitment details with your [organization/group/followers]. Should you be willing to assist us with recruitment, I have attached our promotional graphic and accompanying text, inclusive of the link to our study survey found here: <u>https://uwo.eu.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_ekxdJGQNF2c1nn0</u>

Thank you for considering our request, and please do not hesitate to reach out if you have any questions.

Warm regards, [name, co-investigator/research assistant, the uMOVE24 study]

Sample caption to post along with graphic (Facebook/Instagram/Reddit/LinkedIn/OWL announcement):

Are you a full-time undergraduate student at an Ontario university? Researchers from Western University in the Faculty of Health Sciences are investigating Ontario undergraduate university students' movement behaviours and their relationship with social support. To participate in a quick, 10–15 minute survey regarding the study, please [click the following link/visit the link in our bio]

: <u>https://uwo.eu.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_ekxdJGQNF2c1nn0</u>

Tweet/TikTok Messaging

Are you a full-time undergraduate student at an Ontario University? We invite you to participate in our study exploring movement behaviours and their relationship with social support. To participate, please click the following link click the following link/visit the link in our bio]: https://uwo.eu.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_ekxdJGQNF2c1nn0

Appendix E – Letter of Information

Welcome to the uMOVE24 Study

Study Title: **uMOVE24**: The Prevalence of Ontario Undergraduate University Students Meeting the **24**-Hour **Move**ment Guidelines and the Role of Social Support Principal Investigator: Dr. Jennifer Irwin (**1999**) Co-Investigator: Ms. Nia Contini (**1999**)

Thank you for your interest in participating in the uMOVE24 Study. Before you decide whether to participate, the researchers would like you to read some important information about the study. If you choose to participate, you will be able to continue to survey to confirm your eligibility and provide consent for the study.

Please note that this survey will be best displayed on a laptop or desktop computer. Some features may be less compatible for use on a mobile device.

Background/Study Rationale

Physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep have serious implications on health and wellbeing. There is considerable evidence that health outcomes depend on the time spent in each of these three movement behaviours. Nevertheless, many Canadian adults aged 18 to 79 years are not meeting the recommendations for these movement behaviours. The 24-Hour Movement Guidelines are a relatively new set of guidelines that provide recommendations for Canadian adults' physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep. University students are one specific subgroup of the adult population that have found it challenging to participate in sufficient physical activity or sleep, while simultaneously participating in excessive sedentary behaviour. Considering the large influence that the COVID-19 pandemic has had, and continues to have, on students and their movement, it is vital that researchers continue to understand students' movement behaviours at this time.

One determinant that is known to affect all three movement behaviours is social support, which is defined as "aid and assistance exchanged through social relationships and interpersonal transactions". Although social support has been found to play an independent role in influencing physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep behaviour, it has not yet been explored as a determinant of meeting the overall 24-Hour Movement Guidelines. Not surprisingly, the pandemic has influenced many determinants of movement behaviours, including social support. Understanding university students' movement behaviours, the influence of social support, and the current state of students' social support is vital to support students' movement behaviour patterns in the short- and longer-term.

Purpose of this Study

The proposed study is a cross-sectional, observational design. The first of this study's two-fold purpose is to assess the prevalence of full-time Ontario undergraduate university students meeting the Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines approximately two and a half years after

March 2020, when the COVID-19 pandemic began. The second purpose of this study is to assess the association between meeting the Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines and perceived social support.

Eligibility Criteria

Participants will be eligible to participate if they are: (1) registered as a full-time undergraduate student at an Ontario university; and (2) are able to read and write in English.

Study Procedures

Your participation in this study will involve the completion of one online survey that will take approximately 10-15 minutes. The survey will include the brief demographics questionnaire followed by three validated scales (International Physical Activity Questionnaire, Muscle-Strengthening Exercise Questionnaire, Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index) and four additional questions to assess whether participants are currently meeting the 24-Hour Movement Guidelines. The survey will finish with a validated scale (Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support) to assess students' current level of perceived social support. A maximum of 3000 participants will be enrolled in this study.

Risks & Benefits

For those who choose to participate in the study, there is a risk that some questions, such as those pertaining to perceived social support, might cause some distress and anxiety in some participants. Resources have been included at the end of the survey to provide participants with an opportunity to discuss these emotions. While there are no direct benefits to the study, a reflection on one's own movement behaviours may be beneficial.

Cost & Compensation

There is no cost or compensation for participation in this study.

Voluntary Participation

Participation in this study is voluntary. You do not waive any legal right by participating in this study. The majority of the questions are voluntary; however, there are some screening questions or required fields that are mandatory in order to participate. If you do not want to respond to the mandatory questions, please close the browser before the survey is submitted. You may refuse to participate at any time. Once your responses are submitted, they cannot be withdrawn as they are not identifiable.

Confidentiality

Your survey responses will be collected through a secure online survey platform called Qualtrics. Qualtrics uses encryption technology and restricted access authorizations to protect all data collected. The data will then be exported from Qualtrics and securely stored on a Western University server behind institutional firewalls. The data will be accessed remotely (via Western's OneDrive) by the research team. Study data will not contain any identifiable information. All data collected will remain confidential and accessible only to the investigators of this study. While we do our best to protect your information, there is no guarantee that we will be able to do so. We are collecting some sensitive information. For example, demographic information (e.g., age, gender, ethnicity, year of study, university of registration). These identifiers will be collected for the purposes of descriptive statistics and understanding the population/cohort that is being studied. After a minimum of 7 years, all data will be destroyed. By participating in this research, you agree that the results may be used for scientific purposes, including publication in scientific journals. No individual information will be reported. Only group-level and aggregated data will be reported.

Contacts for Further Information

If you require further information regarding this research project or your participation in the study, your first points of contact are Ms. Nia Contini () or Dr. Jennifer Irwin ()/). If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant or the conduct of this study, you may contact The Office of Human Research Ethics (). For non-local participants you may contact: , email:

Eligibility and Consent

Prior to participating in this study, you will be asked to give consent and confirm your eligibility. If you do not provide consent, you will not be able to participate. If you are interested in participating, you will be able to click a link at the end of this survey that will redirect you to confirm your eligibility and provide consent for the study.

If you would like to participate in the uMOVE24 study, please click the next button and it will ask you to confirm your eligibility and provide consent for the study.

If you are not interested in participating, please close your web browser.

Thank you for your time!

Appendix F – International Physical Activity Questionnaire – Short Form

INTERNATIONAL PHYSICAL ACTIVITY QUESTIONNAIRE

We are interested in finding out about the kinds of physical activities that people do as part of their everyday lives. The questions will ask you about the time you spent being physically active in the **last 7 days**. Please answer each question even if you do not consider yourself to be an active person. Please think about the activities you do at work, as part of your house and yard work, to get from place to place, and in your spare time for recreation, exercise or sport.

Think about all the **vigorous** activities that you did in the **last 7 days**. **Vigorous** physical activities refer to activities that take hard physical effort and make you breathe much harder than normal. Think *only* about those physical activities that you did for at least 10 minutes at a time.

1. During the **last 7 days**, on how many days did you do **vigorous** physical activities like heavy lifting, digging, aerobics, or fast bicycling?

| _days per week | | |
|---------------------------------|----------|--------------------|
| No vigorous physical activities | → | Skip to question 3 |

2. How much time did you usually spend doing **vigorous** physical activities on one of those days?

| _hours per day |
|----------------------|
| _minutes per day |
| Don't know/Not sure |

Think about all the **moderate** activities that you did in the **last 7 days**. **Moderate** activities refer to activities that take moderate physical effort and make you breathe somewhat harder than normal. Think only about those physical activities that you did for at least 10 minutes at a time.

3. During the **last 7 days**, on how many days did you do **moderate** physical activities like carrying light loads, bicycling at a regular pace, or doubles tennis? Do not include walking.

| _days per week | | |
|---------------------------------|---------------|--------------------|
| No moderate physical activities | \rightarrow | Skip to question 5 |

SHORT LAST 7 DAYS SELF-ADMINISTERED version of the IPAQ. Revised August 2002.

4. How much time did you usually spend doing moderate physical activities on one of those days?

| _hours per day |
|----------------------|
| _minutes per day |
| Don't know/Not sure |

Think about the time you spent walking in the last 7 days. This includes at work and at home, walking to travel from place to place, and any other walking that you have done solely for recreation, sport, exercise, or leisure.

5. During the last 7 days, on how many days did you walk for at least 10 minutes at a time?

| _days per we | ek | |
|------------------|---------------|--------------------|
| No walking | \rightarrow | Skip to question 7 |

6. How much time did you usually spend walking on one of those days?

| _hours per day |
|----------------------|
| _minutes per day |
| Don't know/Not sure |

The last question is about the time you spent sitting on weekdays during the last 7 days. Include time spent at work, at home, while doing course work and during leisure time. This may include time spent sitting at a desk, visiting friends, reading, or sitting or lying down to watch television.

7. During the last 7 days, how much time did you spend sitting on a week day?

| | hours per day |
|-----------|------------------|
| | _minutes per day |
| \square | Don't know/Not s |

Don't know/Not sure

This is the end of the questionnaire, thank you for participating.

SHORT LAST 7 DAYS SELF-ADMINISTERED version of the IPAQ. Revised August 2002.

Appendix G - Muscle-Strengthening Exercise Questionnaire Short Form

Supplemental Digital Content 2

Muscle-strengthening Exercise Questionnaire Short Form (MSEQ-Short)

Your participation in muscle-strengthening exercise The next set of questions are about your participation in <u>muscle-strengthening exercise</u>, sometimes called weight or resistance training.

When thinking about muscle-strengthening exercise, we are only interested in exercises that you do during your leisure or free time, and NOT done as part of your work/job, or as a part of household activities (chores).

The types of muscle-strengthening exercise we are interested in include:

- Using weight machines typically in a gym or fitness centre
- Bodyweight exercises including push-ups or sit-ups
- Resistance exercises using free weights like dumbbells or using resistance bands
- Holistic exercises including Yoga, Tai-Chi or Pilates
- 1. Do you do muscle-strengthening exercise in a usual week?

Yes

No _____ Skip to next module

2. How many days, in a usual week, do you do muscle-strengthening exercise?

____ days per week

 On the day(s) that you do muscle-strengthening exercise, please indicate how long you spend doing this activity?

____ minutes per day

On a scale from 0 to 10, how <u>hard do you feel</u> you are <u>working when doing muscle-strengthening exercise</u> with '0' being 'extremely easy' and '10' being 'extremely hard'

intensity of session

5. What types of muscle-strengthening exercise do you usually do?

| Holistic exercises (Yoga, Tai-Chi and Pilates) Yes or No | | Weight machines (Lat pulldown, bench press, leg press) Resistance exercises (resistance bands/dumbbells) Bodyweight exercises (push-ups, sit-ups) Holistic exercises (Yoga, Tai-Chi and Pilates) | Yes or No Yes or No Yes or No Yes or No_ |
|--|--|---|---|
|--|--|---|---|

 When you do muscle-strengthening exercise, <u>do you usually do exercise that target or use</u> <u>the</u> following <u>muscle groups or parts of your body?</u> Legs (e.g. squats, lunge, leg press) Yes or No _____ Hips (e.g. bridges, lateral banded walk) Yes or No _____ Back (e.g. lat pulldown, dumbbell row) Yes or No _____ Abdomen (e.g. sit-ups, planking) Yes or No _____

| Abdomen (e.g. sit-ups, planking) | Yes or No |
|--|-----------|
| Chest (e.g. bench press, push-ups) | Yes or No |
| Shoulders (e.g. shoulder/overhead press) | Yes or No |
| Arms (e.g. bicep curl, tricep dips) | Yes or No |

This is the end of the survey, thank you for participating.

Appendix H – Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support

Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support

Instructions: We are interested in how you feel about the following statements. Read each statement carefully. Indicate how you feel about each statement.

Circle the "1" if you Very Strongly Disagree Circle the "2" if you Strongly Disagree Circle the "3" if you Mildly Disagree Circle the "4" if you are Neutral Circle the "5" if you Mildly Agree Circle the "6" if you Strongly Agree Circle the "7" if you Very Strongly Agree

| | | Very Strongly Disagree | Strongly Disagree | Mildly Disagree | Neutral | Mildly Agree | Strongly Agree | Very Strongly Agree |
|-----|---|------------------------------|----------------------|--------------------|---------|-----------------|-------------------|---------------------------|
| 1. | There is a special person who is around when I am in need. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 |
| 2. | There is a special person with whom I can share joys and sorrows | s. 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 |
| 3. | My family really tries to help me. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 |
| 4. | I get the emotional help & support I need from my family. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 |
| 5. | I have a special person who is a real source of comfort to me. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 |
| 6. | My friends really try to help me. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 |
| 7. | l can count on my friends when things go wrong. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 |
| 8. | I can talk about my problems with my family. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 |
| 9. | I have friends with whom I can share my joys and sorrows. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 |
| 10. | There is a special person in my life who cares about my feelings. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 |
| 11. | My family is willing to help me make decisions. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 |
| 12. | I can talk about my problems with my friends. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 |

Curriculum Vitae

| Name: | Nia Contini |
|---|---|
| Post-secondary Education and Degrees: | University of Ottawa Ottawa, Ontario, Canada 2017-2021 B.Sc |
| | Western University London, Ontario, Canada 2021-Present, M.Sc |
| Honours and Awards: | Ontario Graduate Scholarship April 2022 |
| | Canada Graduate Scholarship Social Science and Humanities Research Council (SSHRC) April 2022 |
| | Dean's Honour List University of Ottawa April 2019 – April 2021 |
| | Dean's Award of Excellence University of Ottawa, Faculty of Health Science December 2019 |
| Related Work Experience | Graduate Teaching Assistant Western University HS 2700: Health Issues in Childhood and Adolescence (Fall 2021) HS 1001: Personal Determinants of Health (Summer 2022) HS 2250: Introduction to Health Promotion (Fall 2022) |
| | Research Assistant Lakehead University July 2022 – Present |
| | Research Assistant University of Ottawa October 2019 – August 2022 |
| | Research Assistant Thunder Bay District Health Unit March 2022 |
| | |

Publications:

- Contini, N., Shillington, K. J., Vanderloo, L. M., Burke, S. M., Ng, V., Tucker, T., & Irwin, J. D. (Manuscript Submitted for Publication, March 2022). Ontario adults' health behaviours during the COVID-19 pandemic. Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism.
- Contini, N., Giles, A. R., Giesbrecht, G., & Raddi, T. (2021). The adaptation of the beyond cold water bootcamp course for Inuvialuit communities in Northwest Territories, Canada. *International Journal of Circumpolar Health*, 80(1), Article 1969744.

https://doi.org/10.1080/22423982.2021.1969744